Aus dem Institut für Arbeits-, Sozial- und Umweltmedizin der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Direktor: Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. Peter Angerer

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the working conditions and health of early childhood professionals

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Public Health der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

> vorgelegt von Susan Gritzka 2023

Als Inauguraldissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

gez.: Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. Nikolaj Klöcker Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. med. Peter Angerer Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Reinhard Pietrowsky Parts of this dissertation were published:

- Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Pietrowsky, R., & Diebig, M. (2022). The Impact of the Implementation of Preventive Measures Due to COVID-19 on Work Design and Early Childhood Professionals' Well-Being-A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031739
- Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Erschens, R., & Diebig, M. (2023). Der Zusammenhang von gesundheitskritischen Arbeitsbelastungen und somatischen Symptomen bei frühpädagogischen Fachkräften in der Kindertagesbetreuung während der CO-VID-19-Pandemie [The Relationship of Work Stress and Somatic Symptoms Among Early Childhood Professionals During the COVID-19 Pandemic]. *Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, medizinische Psychologie.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-2055-1738
- Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., & Diebig, M. (2024). The Mediating Role of Fear of COVID-19 in the Association between COVID-19-Related Work Stressors and Subjective Well-being: Path Analysis by Cross-sectional Evidence in the Child Care Sector across Three Samples. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine*, 66(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002997

Zusammenfassung

Die COVID-19-Pandemie stellte die Kindertagesbetreuung und frühpädagogische Fachkräfte vor ungeahnte Herausforderungen. Nach einem Lockdown in Nordrhein-Westfalen wurden im Juni 2020 unter präventiven Maßnahmen die Einrichtungen schrittweise wiedereröffnet. Dies führte zu Veränderungen in den täglichen Arbeitsabläufen. Angesichts der kritischen Arbeitsbedingungen für frühpädagogische Fachkräfte, untersucht diese Dissertation, wie sich ihre Arbeit und Gesundheit während der COVID-19-Pandemie gestaltete. Innerhalb dieser kumulativen Dissertation wurden 27 qualitative Interviews mit Leitungen von Kindertagesstätten im Juni 2020 durchgeführt. Diese Interviews erforschten explorativ die Umsetzung und Wahrnehmung der präventiven Maßnahmen, deren Auswirkungen auf die Arbeitsbedingungen und deren Einfluss auf das allgemeine Wohlbefinden. Darüber hinaus wurden zwischen Juni 2020 und Mai 2021 drei quantitative Umfragen durchgeführt, um arbeitsbedingten Stress, neue Stressoren im Zusammenhang mit der Pandemie und die psychische und körperliche Gesundheit zu erfassen. Die qualitativen Ergebnisse deuten darauf hin, dass die Umsetzung der präventiven Maßnahmen durch das hohe Engagement der Fachkräfte zwar realisierbar war, den Arbeitsalltag jedoch grundlegend änderten. Bereits vorhandene schwierige Arbeitsbedingungen wurden verschärft. Darüber hinaus wurde beschrieben, dass das Wohlbefinden durch psychische und physische Belastung beeinflusst wurde, wobei sich Wut, Frustration, emotionale Erschöpfung und die Angst vor Infektion zeigten. Insbesondere die Angst vor COVID-19 spielte eine wichtige Rolle, da sie als Mediator zwischen neuen COVID-19-bezogenen Stressoren und dem subjektiven Wohlbefinden in den quantitativen Daten identifiziert wurde. Die quantitativen Ergebnisse bestätigen weiter eine signifikant niedrigere Prävalenz der psychischen als auch der somatischen Gesundheit bei frühpädagogischen Fachkräften im Vergleich zur deutschen Allgemeinbevölkerung während der Pandemie. Überraschenderweise wurde jedoch eine ähnlich hohe Prävalenz von Arbeitsstress im Vergleich zu Studien vor der Pandemie beobachtet. Arbeitsstress vervierfachte das Chancenverhältnis, mäßig bis stark ausgeprägte somatische Symptome zu erleben. Diese Forschung beleuchtet die komplexen Dynamiken der Kindertagesbetreuung während der Pandemie und zeigt die Erfahrungen und Herausforderungen auf. Die Dissertation dient als wichtige Ressource für Politik, Praktiker:innen und Forschende, die die Arbeitsbedingungen und die Gesundheit dieser systemrelevanten Berufsgruppe in zukünftigen Krisensituationen verbessern möchten.

Summary

The COVID-19 pandemic posed unprecedented challenges for the field of early childhood education and care (ECEC) and early childhood professionals (ECPs). Following a lockdown, the gradual reopening in June 2020 in North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW) of ECEC facilities brought changes to the daily work routines of ECPs, as preventive measures were adopted. Considering that ECPs have long faced challenging working conditions, this dissertation aimed to investigate how their work and health were further affected during the COVID-19 pandemic. In this cumulative dissertation, 27 gualitative interviews were conducted with child care managers in June 2020. These interviews explored the implementation and perception of preventive measures, their impact on working conditions, and their influence on overall well-being. Additionally, three quantitative surveys were administered between June 2020 and May 2021 to assess workrelated stress, new stressors arising from the pandemic, and the mental and physical health of ECPs. The qualitative findings suggest that the implementation of preventive measures, while feasible due to the commitment of ECPs, fundamentally altered the work of ECPs. Pre-existing challenging working conditions appear to have been exacerbated. Furthermore, it was described that well-being was impacted by psychological and physical demands, with anger, frustration, emotional exhaustion, and fear of infection being just some of the reported strain outcomes. In particular, the fear of COVID-19 played an important role as it mediated the association between new COVID-19related stressors and subjective well-being. The quantitative results confirm a significantly lower level of both psychological and physical health among ECPs compared to the German general population during the pandemic. However, contrary to expectations, a similarly high level of work stress was observed compared to pre-pandemic studies. The experience of work stress guadrupled the odds of experiencing moderateto-high somatic symptom severity. This research sheds light on the complex dynamics of the ECEC sector during the pandemic and contributes knowledge into the experiences and challenges faced by ECPs. It serves as a critical resource for policymakers, practitioners, and researchers seeking to enhance the working conditions and health for this essential workforce in future crisis scenarios.

List of abbreviations

COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019		
DJI	German Youth Institute (Deutsches Jugendinstitut)		
ECEC	Early Childhood Education and Care		
ECP	Early Childhood Professional		
ERI	Effort-Reward Imbalance		
ISCED	International Standard Classification of Education		
MKFFI ¹	Ministry for Children, Families, Refugees and Integration of the		
	state North Rhine-Westphalia (Ministerium für Kinder, Familie,		
	Flüchtlinge und Integration des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen)		
NRW	North Rhine-Westphalia (Nordrhein-Westfalen)		
OHS	Occupational Health and Safety		
PHQ-15	Patient Health Questionnaire-15		
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment		
RKI	Robert Koch Institute (Robert Koch-Institut)		
SARS-CoV-2	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2		
STIKO	Permanent Vaccination Commission (Ständige Impfkommission)		
WHO	World Health Organization		
WHO-5	WHO-Five Well-Being Index		

¹ At the beginning of the research project in June 2020 and during the data collection phases, the responsible ministry was known as the MKFFI. However, following the May 2022 elections in North Rhine-Westphalia, it was renamed to MKJFGFI, which stands for the 'Ministry for Children, Youth, Family, Equality, Refugees, and Integration of the state of North Rhine-Westphalia,' or in German, 'Ministerium für Kinder, Jugend, Familie, Gleichstellung, Flucht und Integration des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen.

Table of contents

1.1 Background. 1 1.2 Occupational profile and key figures of early childhood professionals in Germany. 2 1.3 Work stress and strain of early childhood professionals prior to the COVID-19 pandemic 5 1.3.1 Work tasks 7 1.3.2 Work equipment and work station 8 1.3.3 Work environment 9 1.3.4 Work organization 11 1.3.5 Psychological, physiological, and behavioral strain outcomes 12 1.4 Overview of COVID-19 regulations and developments in child care in North Rhine-Westphalia 15 1.5 The impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on occupational health and safety 19 1.6 Aims of dissertation 21 2 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Pietrowsky, R., & Diebig, M. (2022). The Impact of the Implementation of Preventive Measures Due to COVID-19 on Work Design and Early Childhood Professionals' Well-Being-A Qualitative Study. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(3). 24				
 1.2 Occupational profile and key figures of early childhood professionals in Germany				
 1.3 Work stress and strain of early childhood professionals prior to the COVID-19 pandemic				
1.3.1 Work tasks 7 1.3.2 Work equipment and work station 8 1.3.3 Work environment 9 1.3.4 Work organization 11 1.3.5 Psychological, physiological, and behavioral strain outcomes 12 1.4 Overview of COVID-19 regulations and developments in child care in North Rhine-Westphalia 15 1.5 The impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on occupational health and safety 19 1.6 Aims of dissertation 21 2 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Pietrowsky, R., & Diebig, M. (2022). The Impact of the Implementation of Preventive Measures Due to COVID-19 on Work Design and Early Childhood Professionals' Well-Being-A Qualitative Study. <i>International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health</i> , 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031739				
 1.3.2 Work equipment and work station				
 1.3.3 Work environment				
 1.3.4 Work organization				
 1.3.5 Psychological, physiological, and behavioral strain outcomes12 1.4 Overview of COVID-19 regulations and developments in child care in North Rhine-Westphalia				
 1.4 Overview of COVID-19 regulations and developments in child care in North Rhine-Westphalia				
 1.5 The impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on occupational health and safety				
 1.6 Aims of dissertation				
 2 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Pietrowsky, R., & Diebig, M. (2022). The Impact of the Implementation of Preventive Measures Due to COVID-19 on Work Design and Early Childhood Professionals' Well-Being-A Qualitative Study. <i>International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health</i>, <i>19</i>(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/iierph19031739				
 3 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Erschens, R., & Diebig, M. (2023). Der Zusammenhang von gesundheitskritischen Arbeitsbelastungen und somatischen Symptomen bei frühpädagogischen Fachkräften in der Kindertagesbetreuung während der COVID-19-Pandemie [The Relationship of Work Stress and Somatic Symptoms Among Early Childhood Professionals During the COVID-19 Pandemic]. <i>Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, medizinische Psychologie.</i> Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-2055-1738				
4 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., & Diebig, M. (2024). The Mediating Role of Fear of COVID-19 in the Association between COVID-19-Related Work Stressors and Subjective Well-being: Path Analysis by Cross-sectional Evidence in the Child Care Sector across Three Samples. Journal of occupational and environmental medicine, 66(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002997				
5 Discussion				
5.1 Summary of qualitative findings in published literature context 28				
5.1.1 Implementing preventive measures in child care 28				
5.1.2 Working conditions and well-being during the reopening-phase30				

5.2 Sur	nmary of quantitative findings in published literature context.	32
5.2.1	Work stress and somatic health during the COVID-19 pand	emic.32
5.2.2	COVID-19-related stressors and psychological well-being	34
5.3 Stre	engths and limitations	36
5.3.1	Study design	36
5.3.2	Sampling and selection bias	37
5.3.3	Data collection and analysis	40
5.4 Imp	lications	41
5.4.1	Implications for future research	41
5.4.2	Implication for pandemic occupational health and safety	40
		42
5.4.3	Recommendations for practice in the long-term	44
6 Concl	usion	46
7 Refer	ences	48

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted workplaces around the globe, leading to unprecedented changes. With the obligations to shutdown, the emergence of new work-from-home norms, increased focus on health and safety protocols, and the adoption of new technologies, the pandemic has fundamentally altered the way people work. While all employees experienced changes in their work environment to varying degrees, some occupational groups are recognized as essential or frontline workers. These workers maintain the proper functioning of society due to their ability to perform critical functions (The Lancet, 2020). Early childhood professionals (ECPs) occupy a distinct position among essential workers due to their mandatory on-site presence, their responsibility for caring for infants who may lack an understanding of COVID-19 and the capacity to comply with public health guidelines. Additionally, ECPs play a crucial role in supporting the work of other essential workers by providing care for their children. After an initial shutdown in March 2020, access to early childhood education and care (ECEC) was restored in North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW) in June 2020. As a result, ECPs were forced into a delicate balancing act of reopening ECEC facilities under strict occupational health and safety (OHS) measures while taking care of children and protecting their own health.

The global closure of ECEC services, followed by gradual reopening with accompanying OHS measures during the COVID-19 pandemic, represents an unprecedented event in the history of welfare states (Blum & Dobrotić, 2021). This sudden shift in work arrangements may change working conditions and individuals' perception of work demands, ultimately leading to implications for the well-being and health of ECPs. This holds particular importance as the working conditions in ECEC have been reported as psychologically and physically demanding for decades prior to the pandemic (Jungbauer & Ehlen, 2015; Rudow, 2004).

In view of ECPs' general high societal and economic value (Fritschi & Oesch, 2008) and their relevance during the COVID-19 pandemic, protecting the health and safety of ECPs should be regarded as a key priority (Murray, 2020). Against this back-ground, this dissertation - embedded in the research project "Arbeitsmedizinische KiTa-Studie" - seeks to uncover the work demands as well as the mental and physical

health of German ECPs during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is achieved through a combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches. In the introduction, the occupational profile and key figures of the workforce including structural difficulties will be presented (chapter 1.2). Further, work-related stress and strain of ECPs will be explained in detail (chapter 1.3). Based on this presentation of ECPs' workplace, the extensive COVID-19 regulations, and developments within the ECEC sector will be highlighted using the example of NRW (chapter 1.4). This is followed by a short summary of the COVID-19 outbreak's impact on OHS (chapter 1.5). Finally, the aims of this dissertation will be outlined (chapter 1.6).

1.2 Occupational profile and key figures of early childhood professionals in Germany

The profession of ECPs are among professions in education whereas the term ECEC encompasses the entire field of education for all children not yet of school age, thus the category 01 and 02 of the international standard classification of education (ISCED) (Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung, 2022). Generally, ECEC refers to a wide range of worldwide educational services designed to meet the needs of children from birth to school. These services encompass various types, such as preschools, kindergartens, and elementary schools, and may extend to the initial stages of primary education. The German ECEC encompass both child care centers ("Kindertageseinrichtungen") as well as family day care ("Kindertagespflege") (Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung, 2022).

As of March 1, 2020, a total of 682,942 employees were employed in German child care centers, including pedagogical, management and administrative staff (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2022b). In contrast, in 2010, there were only 423,438 employees, indicating an increase of 61.3% (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2022b). In the case of NRW, there has been a similarly strong increase, from 97,205 employees in ECEC in 2011 to 147,367 in 2021, representing a 50.2% increase (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2021). This growth trend has been observed for years at a consistently high level. Additionally, 44,782 ECPs worked in German family day care (96.1% female, 3.9% male) in 2020 (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2020). The gender breakdown of ECPs in child care centers in Germany is 92.5% female and 7.5% male, while in NRW it is 93.5% female and 6.5% male (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). This gender-specific distribution has seen a slight change in recent years, with the number of male ECPs more than tripling since

2009 (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2022a). Yet, it remains a female-dominated profession despite current professional policy activities to attract more men to ECEC. In contrast, among primary school teachers, 18.8% are male, and among secondary school teachers, 32.5% are male (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). In 2020, 2.6% of ECPs employed in Germany were aged under 20 years, 23.4% between 20 – 30 years, 23.7% between 30 – 40 years, 21.9% between 40 – 50 years, 21% between 50 – 60 years and 7.5% above 60 years. The mean age for ECPs in general was 40.7 years, while for leadership positions, it was 48 years (Statistisches Bundesamt, 2020). The workforce of ECPs is becoming increasingly older due to demographic changes (Schneiders & Schönauer, 2022). However, the majority of ECPs (53%) expect that they won't be able to continue their careers until reaching retirement age due to health-related issues (Losch, 2018).

The number of apprentices has doubled since 2007/08 from just under 21,000 to around 43,000 apprentices (2020/21) in Germany (Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung, 2022). The growth in the number of employees and apprentices may be attributed to increased staffing needs. This increase follows the introduction of a legal entitlement to attend ECEC for children as young as one, which came into effect on August 1, 2013. Previously, this entitlement only existed for children aged three and older, a regulation in place since 1996 (Sozialgesetzbuch §24, 2013). For example, the attendance of children under the age of three in ECEC was only 7.0% in 2007 (86.5% for children aged three to six years), but it increased to 29.2% (91.2% for children aged three to six years) by 2020 (Bock-Famulla, 2008; Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). Thus, the ECEC attendance has particularly increased in the younger age group. However, there is still a gap as 49.4% of parents express a desire for ECEC attendance for their children in this age group (Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend, 2020). Furthermore, the demand of ECEC attendance is projected to reach 53% by 2030 (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). This highlights the noteworthy shortage of ECPs in Germany (Bock-Famulla et al., 2022). Facilities lacking an adequate number of qualified staff struggle to effectively carry out their educational mission in a childfriendly manner. In fact, they are often only able to provide care for the children (Klusemann et al., 2020). The Bertelsmann Foundation's State Report on ECEC shows that various quality characteristics, such as staffing ratios, vary widely both between and within federal states (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). A good structural child care quality positively influences children's social and emotional development (Burchinal et al., 2000) such as their pro-social behavior (Camehl & Peter, 2017). For a favorable

staffing ratio, the Bertelsmann Foundation recommends that one ECP is responsible for a maximum of three children under the age of three and a maximum of 7.5 children over the age of three (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). However, because of a shortage of personnel, it is challenging to meet the scientifically recommended staffing ratio. On a national average, the mean staffing ratio for children under the age of 3 is M = 3.8, and for children above three years, it is M = 8.1 (Bildungsbericht, 2022).

In officially registered ECEC facilities, 73% of children are observed to have insufficient staffing ratios, failing to meet scientifically recommended standards. This problem is more pronounced among children under the age of three (78%) compared to those above the age of three (68%) (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). As ECEC attendance for children under three years old continues to expand, the shortage of skilled labor in this profession is expected to worsen (Bock-Famulla et al., 2022). Additional factors exacerbating the staff shortage include the upcoming legal mandate for full-day care in primary schools from 2026 and the retirement of older employees. Considering the anticipated decline in the labor supply, the recruitment of ECPs will face great challenges in the future (Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung, 2022). Simulation calculations indicate that by 2030, Germany could face a shortage of skilled workers ranging from 28,800 to 265,700, with NRW experiencing a shortage of 10,400 to 67,400 skilled workers (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). These varying numbers are influenced by different scenarios, which depend on the anticipated attendance rates of children, staffing ratios, and personnel capacities for management tasks. To reduce this shortage, an increase of 128% in new entrants must be achieved by attracting lateral entrants and enhancing training capacities (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). Currently, one of the most popular training options is state-regulated vocational education and training, which is offered at vocational schools, academies, and vocational colleges, among others. However, this traditional training is an unremunerated school-based training (König et al., 2018). Although new mixed forms of training with paid practice-integrated parts have recently emerged, there remains a need for expanding training capacity, enhancing training quality, and increasing the overall attractiveness of the training (Klusemann et al., 2020). A representative employer survey shows above-average recruitment difficulties in ECEC. While there are typically eleven applicants for job postings in other professions, there are only five for ECEC positions. In addition to a low number of applicants, the lack of qualifications of the applicants represents an issue (Warning, 2020).

There is an urgent need to enhance the appeal of this profession for both newcomers and existing personnel. Currently, 36.5% of ECPs express intentions to change jobs, and 25.7% are contemplating leaving the profession altogether (Meyer & Alsago, 2021). Hence, this professional group experiences high turnover rates (Warning, 2020). This trend can be partly attributed to ECPs' below-average salaries (Gambaro et al., 2021), with 76% expressing dissatisfaction with their compensation (Lübker & Herrberg, 2022).

Overall, this chapter highlighted that the profession of ECPs appears to be a thriving sector, yet still one that faces structural difficulties. There are challenges especially related to a shortage of personnel, an increasingly aging workforce, a poor staff-to-child ratio, high turnover, and fluctuation rates as well as below-average pay. In addition to these structural and organizational difficulties, specific work-related demands that also affect the employees characterize the everyday work life of ECPs. Thus, the following chapter delves into the work stress and strain experienced by ECPs prior to the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.3 Work stress and strain of early childhood professionals prior to the COVID-19 pandemic

Historically, research on occupational stress within the education field has predominantly centered on primary and secondary education professionals, with ECPs being largely overlooked (Hall-Kenyon et al., 2014). As presented, the ECEC sector has expanded; likewise, research has expanded. The increased research interest over the past decade, examining working conditions and their impact on ECPs' health, underscores the growing recognition of the value of ECPs' work and the importance of prioritizing a healthy and safe workplace for them (Cumming, 2017).

However, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, studies had already highlighted the presence of work-specific psychological and physical stressors in ECEC (Rudow, 2017). Various work organization and work psychology models have been developed to explain the occurrence of work stress and its connection to adverse health outcomes. These models include, among others, the Job Demand-Control Model (Karasek, 1979) and its extension, the Job Demand-Control-Support Model (Johnson & Hall, 1988; Johnson et al., 1989) (referred to in study 1), as well as the Effort-Reward Imbalance Model (Siegrist et al., 2004) (referred to in study 2). Generally, stress research often distinguishes between stressors (i.e., conditions and demands that trigger

subsequent reactions), perceived stress (i.e., an individual's perception and appraisal of the stressor), and strains (i.e., psychological, physiological, social and behavioral outcomes) (Bliese et al., 2017; Hurrell et al., 1998). This approach is also reflected in the most widely used model within German occupational science: the stress(or)-strain model (Rohmert & Rutenfranz, 1975). This model describes the relationship between the stress at the workplace ("Belastung") and the resulting mental and physical strain ("Beanspruchung") experienced by workers. Thereby, stress encompasses all external factors that impact an employee. Strain, on the other hand, refers to the respective outcomes of stress experienced by individuals, which are influenced by internal factors like general health, age, gender, enduring and momentary conditions, including individual coping strategies, as well as personal experience and motivation (Schaper, 2019). Under this definition, stress and strain are described in a value-neutral way as inherent aspects of all work processes. They can exert both short-term and long-term effects on employees, either enhancing or impairing their well-being. Therefore, moderate levels of strain can result in positive stimulation and enhanced performance, whereas excessive strain can lead to fatigue, errors, and health problems (Neuner, 2016). The terms psychological stress and strain were included in the European standard DIN EN ISO 10075-1 describing guidelines for work design regarding workload (Demerouti et al., 2012; Nachreiner & Schütte, 2018). In this context, external stressors that affect employees originate from working conditions that can be classified into: (1) the work tasks, (2) the work equipment, (3) the work environment (including the social environment and society), (4) the work organization, and (5) the work station (Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin, 2008). Several meta-analyses and meta-analytical reviews, including longitudinal designs, have established the relationship between work stressors and psychological as well as physical health (Niedhammer et al., 2021; Nixon et al., 2011; Stansfeld & Candy, 2006). Figure 1 provides an overview of the connection between stress(or) and strain. It is essential to recognize the diversity among ECEC facilities and the varying resources that ECPs bring to their specific work settings. Consequently, what may be considered strain for one individual (e.g., handling multiple work tasks) can also serve as a resource for another (Bloechliger & Bauer, 2016). Moreover, it should be noted that most studies have been conducted in child care centers, and there is limited available literature on family care providers.

The following sections will provide an overview of scientific findings regarding: (1) work tasks, (2) work equipment and work stations, (3) work environment, (4) work organization as well as (5) the resulting strain outcomes among ECPs.



Fig. 1. Simplified representation of the stress(or)-strain model based on the representation in Joiko et al. (2010)

1.3.1 Work tasks

The work of ECPs is characterized by task variety. This encompasses tasks, such as education, training, and care of children, as well as cooperation with parents, caregivers and schools, observations, documentation, assessments of development, preparation and implementation of development talks, quality management, creation and updating of the educational concept, and language education (Rudow, 2017). In

German studies, it was reported that 96% of ECPs (Darius et al., 2023), respectively 92% of ECPs (Rudow, 2004) rated the multitude of tasks to be the most prevalent source of stress. The multitude of tasks associated with the roles of ECPs necessitates the adoption of various job roles, which can ultimately lead to challenging role conflicts (Nagel-Prinz & Paulus, 2012). In recent years, ECPs reported increasing stress levels due to the rising number of external projects, including language support, theme groups, appointments with reading or motor therapists, sports groups, as well as religious services. Furthermore, some non-pedagogical tasks (e.g., dusting and dishwashing) have been added to their work tasks (Rudow, 2017). Additionally, ECPs are burdened with simultaneous tasks as they take care for a large number of children with various needs at the same time (Losch & Schulze, 2016), which makes the accomplishment of tasks complex (Liu & Li, 2012). Scholars found that ECPs have to perform simultaneous tasks for an average of 47% of their daily work time (Kusma et al., 2011). Hence, this multitasking is experienced as both quantitative and qualitative overload (Thinschmidt, 2010). The responsibilities of child care managers encompass even a broader range of work tasks, including personnel management, pedagogical leadership, administration, and public relations. This adds to the workload of pedagogical duties, as leadership positions in ECEC typically have limited time allocated to leadership-associates tasks (Nagel-Prinz & Paulus, 2012). According to official statistics from 2020, 7% of the 10,347 child care centers in NRW, and 8% in Germany, lack a contractually agreed allocation of time for leadership tasks (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). Experts recommend a minimum of 20 weekly hours for the professional leadership and management, a criterion that is not met in 74% of child care centers in NRW (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021).

1.3.2 Work equipment and work station

Working in ECEC settings presents physical challenges for ECPs due to the nature of their responsibilities. These physical demands can be further exacerbated by the presence of poorly designed ergonomic furniture (Gratz et al., 2002). Inadequate ergonomic workplace design can lead to unfavorable body postures and movements, such as lifting and carrying. This issue may be compounded using furniture that is not appropriately sized for adults or is altogether absent. Additionally, non-body-proportional design elements within spaces, such as inadequate work heights for tasks like eating, playing, preparing, cleaning, personal hygiene, and dressing children, can contribute to these challenges (Sinn-Behrendet et al., 2014). Research findings indicate

that a high portion of ECPs face ergonomic challenges in their work environment. Specifically, 83% of ECPs reported regularly sitting on child-size furniture, while 60% mentioned that they spend most of their time sitting on the floor. Family day care providers, although working in a home-based setting, also reported engaging in these activities, albeit to a lesser degree (Gratz et al., 2002). This is confirmed by other research that reported the absence of suitable adult work tools and furniture as well as insufficient material resources (Fuchs-Rechlin, 2007).

Additionally, the dual-purpose use of spaces, such as using a group room for both playing and dining, can result in the need to move heavy furniture and handle additional loads. Inadequate or the absence of transport aids and unloading mechanisms can compound this issue (Rudow, 2004, 2017). The shortage of designated spaces for small groups and for ECPs to use as areas for relaxation and recuperation has been identified as a deficiency (Fuchs-Rechlin, 2007), even though break rooms are legally mandated by workplace regulations (Arbeitsstättenverordnung - ArbStättV, 2004).

1.3.3 Work environment

Noise is a prevalent work environment stressor in ECEC (Rudow, 2017; Thinschmidt, 2009; Viernickel, Voss, et al., 2013). Remarkably, 91% of ECPs consider high noise levels as an integral part of their professional environment, with 66% perceiving it as burdensome (Losch, 2015). Another study found that 94% of ECPs reported noise as having a significant impact on their personal stress levels (Losch & Schulze, 2016). Measurements conducted in child care centers have recorded sound pressure levels exceeding 90 decibel (A) (Nsabimana & Rennies-Hochmuth, 2016), and even 100 decibel (A) (Schad, 2002). In many other professions, the use of hearing protection is mandated when exposed to noise levels of this magnitude (> 85 decibel (A)) (Hall & Leppelmeier, 2015). The World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines emphasize the adverse health effects of noise and recommend sound pressure levels ranging from 35 to 55 decibel (A) for preschools (Berglund et al., 1999). However, achieving these levels may be impractical. Alongside the detrimental effects of noise exposure, ECPs face other unfavorable environmental conditions, including suboptimal temperatures, inadequate lighting, poor air quality (elevated CO2 concentration), PCB-contaminated materials (Polychlorinated Biphenyls), unpleasant odors, and limited room sizes (Rudow, 2017; Schad, 2002).

A systematic review has documented an epidemiologically increased risk of infection among ECPs, constituting an occupational hazard (Eisner et al., 2009). These infections primarily include common childhood illnesses like chickenpox, measles, mumps, rubella (all of which are considered airborne and/or droplet infections), as well as tuberculosis, flu, and colds (Rudow, 2017). This aligns with the subjective experiences of ECPs, who often report frequent occurrences of infectious diseases in their facilities, frequently introduced by children attending ECEC despite having symptoms such as colds, runny noses, and gastrointestinal issues. ECPs believe that this practice may elevate the risk of transmission to other children and staff, resulting in increased absenteeism and disruptions (Thinschmidt, 2010).

The social dynamics within the ECEC setting introduce a complex environment with distinct stressors. ECPs navigate multiple relationships, including children in their care, parents, colleagues, child care managers, service providers, and others. Working closely with children demands a high level of attention and vigilance, as ECPs are continually exposed to unpredictable stimuli (Curbow et al., 2000). This dynamic gives rise to various demands, including the management of children of different ages (Black et al., 2017), those with behavioral issues (Friedman-Krauss et al., 2014), psychiatric disorders, special needs (Rudow, 2017; Sinzig & Schmidt, 2007), language difficulties, cultural diversity (Haderlein, 2017; Kratzmann et al., 2013; Kratzmann & Schneider, 2009), and challenges from dysfunctional families (Rudow, 2017). ECPs often engage in emotional labor, which entails managing their own emotions and displaying appropriate emotions in response to both children's and parents' emotions (Da Jeung et al., 2018). This includes not only expressing socially desired emotions externally but also regulating internal emotional responses, which can be demanding (Grandey, 2000).

Parents also impose diverse demands on ECPs, with 60% of surveyed ECPs reporting very high parental expectations (Jungbauer & Ehlen, 2015). A qualitative study involving ECP focus groups identified interactions with parents as a primary source of workplace stress (Faulkner et al., 2016). Researchers found that dealing with parents can be more taxing and stressful than caring for children, particularly due to frequent conflicts, demanding requests, and the delegation of educational tasks (Jungbauer & Ehlen, 2015). This interaction often involves parents seeking individualized treatment and adaptations, with significant parenting responsibilities being shifted to the ECEC system (Hitzenberger & Schuett, 2017). With increasing ECEC attendance (cf. chapter 1.2), these demands have been found to be growing recently (Klusemann et al., 2020). Moreover, in a representative survey of 2500 child care centers, 22%

noted a trend toward increased aggression from parents toward ECPs (Haderlein, 2017).

These social demands are compounded by ECPs' perception of a lack of support from child care providers or employers ("Träger"). Even during staff shortages and unfilled positions, ECPs often feel compelled to maintain group operations, driven by a sense of responsibility toward parents and a lack of support from providers to implement temporary closures or reduced operating hours (Klusemann et al., 2020).

Child care managers have criticized inadequate communication and cooperation with providers, characterized by unclear and non-transparent information channels (Nagel-Prinz & Paulus, 2012).

While teamwork and team support are critical resources in the ECEC setting (Bloechliger & Bauer, 2016; Nislin et al., 2016) and are generally satisfying (Haderlein, 2015), some studies have identified negative communication patterns within teams as a source of stress (Bokor et al., 2017).

Lastly, ECPs frequently encounter a lack of societal appreciation for their work (Hitzenberger & Schuett, 2017; Viernickel, Voss, et al., 2013), which contributes to a discrepancy between their self-image and external perception (Rudow, 2017). Many ECPs face the societal stereotype that their job primarily involves play and recreation with children (Rudow, 2017); and they desire greater recognition in society (Fuchs-Rechlin, 2007). Effort-reward imbalance, characterized by an imbalance between invested efforts and perceived rewards, is a recurring theme in the literature (Backhaus et al., 2018b; Corr et al., 2015; Koch et al., 2017; Koch et al., 2015; Qi et al., 2014; Viernickel et al., 2017). According to a study, only 1% of child care managers feel supported by politics, which shows the perception of limited political support (Haderlein, 2015).

1.3.4 Work organization

In a study involving three different samples of ECPs, it was found that three out of five negative aspects related to their profession could be attributed to various aspects of work organization. These aspects include time pressure, dealing with excessively large group sizes, and facing challenges related to inadequate time for the preparation and follow-up of pedagogical activities (Thinschmidt et al., 2008).

ECPs experience time pressure which arises from the variety and volume of work tasks (cf. 1.3.1 work tasks) (Kusma et al., 2012; Kusma et al., 2011). In fact, within one study, 68% of ECPs reported this as a common issue (Rudow, 2004). Large

group sizes are a direct result of staff shortages. This further has the potential to amplify other stressful aspects of work (e.g., noise and multitasking) (Darius et al., 2023; Schad, 2002). ECPs have expressed concerns regarding the rising number of children per group, which they feel is exceeding appropriate limits and is continuing to increase (Viernickel, Voss, et al., 2013). Large group sizes also negatively impact the ability to provide individualized attention to children, particularly those with behavioral and developmental difficulties, which is on the rise (Seibt et al., 2005; Thinschmidt, 2010). This may lead to additional demands, since one's own expectations cannot be fulfilled (Rudow, 2017). Furthermore, the duration and organization of working hours have been identified as stressors among ECPs, particularly given the relatively high prevalence of part-time employment (Bock-Famulla et al., 2022). Work scheduling is further complicated by short-notice arrangements that often do not consider personal life, such as family obligations. Due to the nature of their work with children, ECPs frequently experience work interruptions in their everyday work life (Viernickel & Weßels, 2020).

Additionally, ECPs reported limited time for crucial work-related tasks, including preparation and follow-up work, collaboration with colleagues and external stakeholders, opportunities for child-free work, and sufficient breaks (Viernickel, Nentwig-Gesemann, et al., 2013). Regarding the lack of time for preparation and follow-up work, such as planning and reflection on direct pedagogical activities, 47% of child care managers and 45% of ECPs identify this as a source of stress (Rudow, 2004). It is worth noting that 34% of ECPs regularly work overtime due to their inability to complete the assigned workload within the allocated time, and child care managers face an even higher frequency of overtime work, with 66% of them reporting the need to work beyond standard working hours (Viernickel, Voss, et al., 2013). Furthermore, there are insufficient breaks throughout the workday (Viernickel et al., 2014) limiting opportunities for relaxation and recovery experiences (Sonnentag et al., 2017).

1.3.5 Psychological, physiological, and behavioral strain outcomes

Understanding the sources of work-related stress is critical for investigating its health impact on employees. However, each employee's unique set of psychological, physical, genetic, and social conditions leads to individual differences in perceptions and responses to stress (Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin, 2008). To cope with stress, employees may use various strategies, which are influenced by their enduring and immediate conditions. These individual responses determine the degree of strain experienced, which is also influenced by the duration and intensity of

the stress. According to its definition, strain refers to the immediate consequences of exposure to stress factors (Neuner, 2016). The longer and more intense the exposure to stress, the longer the recovery of short-term stress responses takes, and the more likely long-term stress responses will occur (Geurts & Sonnentag, 2006). Long-term or chronic stress can lead to enduring adverse effects on an individual's overall well-being. These effects may manifest as psychosomatic complaints, physical illnesses, deteriorating mental health, and the adoption of unhealthy coping mechanisms like smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, and drug abuse (Beehr, 2014). In this chapter, the strain outcomes experienced by ECPs will be presented, without delving into the various individual factors that influence the strength and direction of this strain (Roßbach et al., 2021). It is essential to recognize that stress can sometimes yield positive effects (c.f. Figure 1); however, for the context of this dissertation, the focus will solely be on the literature pertaining to the adverse effects of stress on ECPs.

In general, high work-related and psychosocial demands placed on ECPs have been associated with an increased vulnerability to stress experience and subsequent outcomes (Jungbauer & Ehlen, 2015), including burnout (Backhaus et al., 2018b; Darius et al., 2023; Koch et al., 2015; Noble & Macfarlane, 2005; Schaack et al., 2020) and stress-related disorders such as depression (Backhaus et al., 2018a; Jeon et al., 2018). In situations where ECPs perceive a mismatch between work demands, their ability to control these demands, and the available resources, they tend to report increased levels of stress. This heightened stress is often associated with the occurrence of depressive symptoms and more frequent conflicts in their interactions with children (Whitaker et al., 2015). Similarly, one study investigated the relationship between individual psychological states, specifically psychological stress, and working conditions (Corr et al., 2015). The authors observed that 42% of surveyed ECPs experienced psychological stress which was strongest predicted by an imbalance between their efforts and rewards. Similar associations could also be found in a longitudinal study conducted among a German ECP sample, indicating an effort-reward imbalance (ERI) to be a source of strain among ECPs (Backhaus et al., 2018b; Koch et al., 2017). Moreover, scholars found a significant positive association between an ERI and hair cortisol concentration, a potential biomarker of chronic work stress, within a sample of ECPs (Qi et al., 2014). The ERI-model posits that work stress can arise when employees expend high levels of effort but receive insufficient rewards, such as low remuneration, a lack of appreciation, or job insecurity. This stress can ultimately result in psychological and physical health issues (Siegrist et al., 2004). A German study revealed

that an ERI among ECPs increased the odds ratio for depression by a factor of 3.7 (Backhaus et al., 2018a). Additional findings from a stress monitoring carried out by the professional association for health care and welfare services ("Berufsgenossenschaft für Gesundheitsdienst und Wohlfahrtspflege") indicate that the psychological well-being of ECPs is notably lower, by 8%, when compared to the reference values of the general working population in Germany (Berger et al., 2000). The international literature emphasizes that when compared to employees in other professions, ECPs (Whitaker et al., 2015) and generally, those in educational professions (Kyriacou, 2001) tend to experience lower levels of well-being and higher levels of stress. Another American study further revealed that ECPs exhibit clinically significant levels of depressive symptoms at a rate ranging from two to five times greater than that observed in the general United States population (Linnan et al., 2017). Additionally, ECPs frequently experience emotional strain, which is partially attributable to their work-related demands (Cumming, 2017). On a behavioral level, it has been shown, that variables related to well-being such as higher levels of stress and emotional exhaustion, predicted a higher likelihood of turnover intentions among ECPs. Additionally, the same study showed that ECPs who perceived better working conditions were less likely to have intentions to leave their job and felt more committed to their profession (Grant et al., 2019). In particular, the perception of supportive structures as factors within the social work environment has been found to predict leaving the current position as well as the profession as a whole (McMullen et al., 2020).

Furthermore, the psychological strain experienced by ECPs has been linked to musculoskeletal complaints (Koch et al., 2015) and other somatic symptoms (Backhaus et al., 2018b), which are attributed to an imbalance between effort and reward in their work. In general, ECPs report significantly higher rates of psychosomatic complaints than the general German population, exceeding the average by 27% (Berger et al., 2000). Within the same study, the most commonly reported symptoms include internal restlessness, fatigue, rumination, as well as neck and shoulder pain, along with lower back pain (Berger et al., 2000). Early research on this topic suggests that ECPs may be more prone to experiencing musculoskeletal symptoms compared to other occupational groups due to a combination of physical and psychosocial work characteristics (Grant et al., 1995; Gratz & Claffey, 1996). A longitudinal study conducted in Sweden found a significant association between psychological workload and the occurrence of neck and shoulder pain. In contrast, physical workload was not found to be linked to neck and shoulder pain after adjusting for baseline psychological workload

and symptoms across all models tested (Larsman et al., 2008). A recent American study showed that ECPs' physical health is worse in terms of pain and general health, yet similar to population norms in terms of physical functioning (Otten et al., 2019). Similarly, in another American study, female ECPs exhibited a higher prevalence of mental and physical health conditions, as well as fair or poor health status, along with a higher frequency of mentally and physically unhealthy days, when compared to a national sample of female workers with similar age, education, race/ethnicity, and marital status (Whitaker et al., 2013).

Nevertheless, it is important to note that in the United States, ECEC is predominantly delivered by private sector entities, whereas in Germany, it is mainly administered by public and non-profit organizations. Furthermore, variations exist in the regulatory frameworks and funding mechanisms for ECEC between these countries, which can potentially influence the work-related experiences of ECPs including factors such as wages and job security, and ultimately affect their overall well-being. Consequently, when discussing these aspects in a broader context, it may be more suitable to draw upon research conducted in Germany or other countries with ECEC systems that similar to German systems.

In chapter 1.3, sources of work-related stress and their potential long-term effects on well-being, as presented in international literature, were discussed. Additionally, potential variations in working conditions between different countries were considered. However, at the beginning of 2020, with the outbreak of COVID-19, all ECPs worldwide faced the same unprecedented challenge: maintaining ECEC services under the conditions of COVID-19.

1.4 Overview of COVID-19 regulations and developments in child care in North Rhine-Westphalia

On 30 January 2020, the WHO declared the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic as a public health emergency of international concern (World Health Organization, 2020a). The WHO further constituted the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) outbreak which causes COVID-19 to be a global pandemic on 11 March 2020 (World Health Organization, 2020b). Following this, the workforce experienced unparalleled challenges and several occupations were deemed essential workers on which societal functioning relies (The Lancet, 2020). Among others, this novel situation forced the essential workforce of education to react immediately and find solutions for the upcoming weeks (Jalongo, 2021). Globally, the ECEC sector was shifted to the private sphere as an immediate crisis response, and ECEC was temporarily unavailable. This worldwide closure of ECEC is unique in the history of welfare states (Blum & Dobrotić, 2021). Following this initial closure, child care policies were developed, and policymakers attempted to balance the often-competing goals of public health and education. These government responses varied greatly in terms of continuity, pace, patterns, and scope across 28 European countries, particularly during the reopening phase (Blum & Dobrotić, 2021). This variation highlights the unique and unprecedented nature of the situation the workforce had to confront. In addition to these cross-country differences in responses, there were also variations in OHS management within Germany (Robert Koch Institut, 2020b). The following description pertains to the state of NRW from March 2020 to June 2021, where and when the studies were conducted. A summary of the chronological development of regulations in ECEC in NRW is provided in figure 2, starting from March 2020.





As of March 16, 2020, ECEC services were completely closed. In order to ensure the operation of critical infrastructure, children of parents (respectively legal guardians) working as an essential worker were eligible for child care (MKFFI, 2020a). This emergency child care ("Notbetreuung") became effective from March 23, 2020 (MKFFI, 2020g).

As of June 8, 2020, the Ministry for Children, Families, Refugees, and Integration (MKFFI, "Ministerium für Kinder, Familie, Flüchtlinge und Integration") decided to move forward with a reopening in terms of a restricted regular operation ("eingeschränkter Regelbetrieb"). From that point onward, all children, regardless of their parents' occupations, were able to attend ECEC programs (Landesregierung NRW, 2020b). However, this operation was primarily driven by public health-related measures, which frequently contradicted pre-pandemic work practices. Employers received instructions on how to redesign child care to comply with OHS guidelines. At this stage, only a few preventive measures are provided as examples. For instance, open educational concepts had to be transformed into fixed group settings with the same group of children and ECPs in clearly separated areas both indoors and outdoors. These group settings had no immediate interaction with one another. Parents were only allowed to enter the facilities in outdoor areas. Pick-ups and drop-offs were staggered to reduce congestion. In general, the weekly duration of child care was reduced by ten hours per child, allowing for additional time to implement comprehensive and enhanced cleaning and hygiene measures.

As of August 17, 2020, ECEC services returned to regular operation during the pandemic ("Pandemiebetrieb in Zeiten der Pandemie") (Landesregierung NRW, 2020c). In response to declining COVID-19 cases, most of the previously introduced OHS measures were no longer necessary. Full-scale child care services were guaranteed, and pedagogical concepts could return to pre-pandemic norms, rendering group settings obsolete. Instead, the focus shifted to disease management for symptomatic children and employees, as well as testing opportunities for ECPs. Consequently, ECPs were able to undergo SARS-CoV-2 testing free of charge every 14 days outside of working hours (MKFFI, 2020e). In an effort to alleviate the workload on ECPs, the MKFFI launched an initiative ("KiTa-Helfer-Initiative") recruiting additional personnel to assist pedagogical staff with non-educational tasks, such as hygiene measures (Landesregierung NRW, 2020a). During the fall of 2020, the management of symptoms led to increased uncertainty, prompting the MKFFI to issue detailed recommendations for handling illness symptoms, aiming to minimize discussions with parents (MKFFI, 2020c).

Starting from November 6, 2020, the MKFFI emphasized its commitment to providing child care services throughout the pandemic, ensuring they would not be

closed again (MKFFI, 2020b). This would be accomplished by once again prioritizing preventive measures (MKFFI, 2020d). However, as Germany grappled with the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic (Schilling et al., 2022), a return to pandemic operation ("Pandemiebetrieb") became inevitable, which occurred on December 8, 2020 (MKFFI, 2020f). During this phase, in addition to ongoing infection control measures, two issues emerged. Firstly, the MKFFI urged parents to care for their children in the home environment whenever possible, and the utilization of ECEC facilities should only be considered in cases of utmost necessity. Secondly, ECEC facilities were granted greater autonomy to make individual adjustments regarding their own organizational and personnel resources. Therefore, different adaptions were possible, including adjustments to the daily child care routine, opening hours, drop-offs and pick-ups, child care duration, reduction or suspension of other educational activities, and staff training, as well as individual symptom management (MKFFI, 2020f).

As of January 11, 2021, the restricted pandemic operation ("eingeschränkter Pandemiebetrieb") followed (MKFFI, 2021b). This phase was characterized by a renewed and more urgent appeal to parents by the MKFFI. Additionally, group settings and the reduction of child care duration were mandatorily reintroduced. Between January 7, 2021, and March 26, 2021, ECPs could undergo COVID-19 testing up to six times without cause. As of February 21, 2021, a phased model was established, based on the monitoring of incidence rates, defining gradual reopening stages (MKFFI, 2021d). These phases included: (1) restricted pandemic operation (i.e., group settings, reduction of child care duration, parental appeal), (2) restricted regular operation (i.e., group settings, if necessary, reduction of child care duration), and (4) regular operation. In case incidence rates increased, a return to the previous phase was implemented.

Starting from March 1, 2020, employees working in ECEC were prioritized as the second vaccination priority group and became eligible for vaccination from March 8, 2021 (MKFFI, 2021a). All eligible individuals over the age of 18 were offered the AstraZeneca vaccine, while persons aged 16 or 17 were offered the BioNTech vaccine. However, on March 15, 2021, the German health minister temporarily halted the use of the AstraZeneca vaccine as a precaution following advice from the Paul-Ehrlich-Institute (Paul-Ehrlich-Institut, 2021). On March 19, 2021, the permanent vaccination commission (STIKO, "Ständige Impfkommission") recommended resuming the use of the AstraZeneca vaccine for COVID-19 vaccination, as the benefits of vaccination outweigh the known risks (Robert Koch Institut, 2021b). The restricted regular operation was initially scheduled to end on March 8, 2021, but it was extended to April 11, 2021, and later further extended. As of April 12, 2021, rapid antigen tests became available to all children and employees in ECEC. Children were tested at home by their parents, and the use of self-tests was voluntary (MKFFI, 2021c).

On April 23, 2021, the federal emergency brake ("Bundesnotbremse") was implemented nationwide. In NRW, need-based emergency child care ("bedarfsorientierte Notbetreuung") was established when the seven-day incidence was 165 or higher for three consecutive days. Below a seven-day incidence of 165, restricted regular operation was applied. The transition from need-based emergency child care to restricted regular operation occurred when the seven-day incidence was below 165 for five consecutive working days. There were clear guidelines regarding which children could attend the need-based emergency child care (MKFFI, 2021f). Due to the positive developments in incidence rates, and in view of the progress made in vaccination, ECEC returned to normal operation in NRW from June 7, 2021 (MKFFI, 2021e).

While the previous chapter outlined the progression of the COVID-19 pandemic with its various phases in ECEC, the next chapter will elucidate the developments at the workplace from an OHS perspective.

1.5 The impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on occupational health and safety

The COVID-19 outbreak has posed unparalleled difficulties for OHS (Godderis & Luyten, 2020). Public responses included the implementation of social distancing and lockdown measures. However, organizations also had to undergo occupational changes to ensure the safety and well-being of their employees (International Labour Organization, 2020). Prompt actions were taken to establish evidence-based guide-lines prioritizing the implementation of occupational preventive and protective measures, underscoring their important role in mitigating the spread of infectious diseases in the workplace (Cirrincione et al., 2020). These measures included educating employees on the importance of staying home when sick, facilitating remote work arrangements, reducing business travel, and discouraging social gatherings (Kaushik & Guleria, 2020). Workplaces where applicable switched to remote work. While working from home increased flexibility in working conditions, it also resulted in a loss of social support at work. Furthermore, balancing work and family, often combined with caring

for children due to closed ECEC services and schools, increased the burdens on employees under pandemic conditions (Giorgi et al., 2020). This highlighted the pivotal role of ECPs in the lives of parents as they navigated their personal and professional responsibilities (Kalluri et al., 2021). Employees who could work from home experienced greater boundary management difficulties but were better positioned than those who could not work from home (Burdorf et al., 2020). Industries unable to transition to remote work models experienced more pronounced negative impacts, with certain sectors, such as health care and child care, being disproportionately affected, especially those with a higher representation of women (OECD, 2020). Personal care and service occupations, including the ECEC sector, were particularly categorized as vulnerable to exposure to infections and diseases, making them among the highest-risk occupations for COVID-19 transmission (Baker et al., 2020). As early as March 2020, scientific literature elucidated the potential for the COVID-19 pandemic to heighten occupational health risks for essential workers. This is largely due to the nature of their work, which often involves close physical contact with others and an increased likelihood of exposure to SARS-CoV-2 (Burdorf et al., 2020). Besides the objective risk of infection, these scholars anticipated psychological and psychosocial consequences that needed to be addressed. In particular, health care workers were likely to encounter issues such as insomnia, burnout, depressive symptoms, and post-traumatic stress disorder (Burdorf et al., 2020).

In April 2020, an initial review of the literature synthesized the potential impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on employees' mental health, specifically examining stress related to perceptions of safety, threat, risk of contagion, infobesity, and the unknown. Nonetheless, the scarcity of existing studies underscored the necessity for additional research, especially focusing on health care workers (Hamouche, 2020). Accordingly, an early research focus of OHS research predominated among occupational groups of health care workers. For example, a subsequent meta-analysis identified that the absence of practical support, such as organizational support, adequate training, and confidence in infection control, could increase the risk of psychological distress among health care workers. Workers who lacked such support were more vulnerable to psychological distress. Conversely, the study found that the provision of personal protective equipment (PPE), proper training, and clear communication could act as protective factors (Kisely et al., 2020). However, besides health care workers, there were numerous other occupational groups at a higher risk of contracting COVID-19 and suffering from COVID-19-related mental health impacts, yet these groups remained underrepresented in international literature until then (Sim, 2020).

In May 2020, a large-scale German research project called "Corona-KiTa" was initiated as a collaboration between the German Youth Institute (DJI) and the Robert Koch Institute (RKI). The study aimed to investigate how the ECEC sector coped during the COVID-19 pandemic and the role that young children played in the spread of SARS-CoV-2 (Robert Koch Institut, 2020a). The initial monthly reports solely covered numerical data on ECEC operations, staffing situations, and incidence rates relating to different federal states (Robert Koch Institut & Deutsches Jugendinstitut, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c). In this context, the united union for social and educational professions ("ver.di für Sozial- und Erzieherberufe") raised concerns regarding these reports, not-ing the inadequate consideration of the perspective of ECPs (ver.di, 2020).

Following the initial months of ECEC closure, the implementation of preventive measures became imperative to mitigate the risk of COVID-19 infections and transmissions upon reopening (Calvo Gallardo et al., 2020). However, integrating preventive measures within the context of children presented unique challenges. Interestingly, early occupational research among a large employee sample conducted in June 2020 revealed that the number of adopted preventive measures was negatively associated with psychological distress (Sasaki et al., 2020). Considering the available evidence at the start of the research project "Arbeitsmedizinische KiTa-Studie" in June 2020, it becomes apparent that the occupation of ECPs posed high complexities for OHS practices during the COVID-19 pandemic, on top of the already existing critical work demands. Therefore, it also posed difficulties for ECPs' mental and physical health.

1.6 Aims of dissertation

The previous chapters provide an overview of the structural barriers, work demands, and the multitude of evolving pandemic regulations in ECEC. Thus, they highlight the persistent and ongoing challenges experienced by ECPs. Until June 2020, there was a lack of research investigating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the work and health of ECPs. Accordingly, research was needed to explore the experiences of ECPs during the pandemic, including their perceptions of preventive measures, COVID-19-related demands, and work stress, as well as their mental and physical health. This dissertation sought to close this research gap. This topic holds considerable public relevance due to the unique circumstances presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, which involved unprecedented closure and reopening processes of ECEC facilities. Additionally, there is a recognized high societal and economic value associated with ECPs. They play a critical role in the development and education of young children, contributing to the overall well-being of future generations and supporting workforce participation through the provision of essential ECEC services. Given the projected substantial increase in the ECEC workforce in the coming years due to increasing ECEC demands, ensuring the health and well-being of these professionals in their occupation becomes imperative. This includes providing support to the workforce during crises such as the pandemic and drawing lessons from these experiences for long-term improvement.

The results of the research project "Arbeitsmedizinische KiTa-Studie" will be showcased through three original studies that have been published. Due to the novelty of the situation and a lack of evidence regarding working conditions in child care during the COVID-19 pandemic, the dissertation adopted a qualitative exploratory approach for the first study, accompanied by two quantitative studies. Figure 3 illustrates the different data collection periods of the research project. Table 3 summarizes the individual studies, including their aims and the evaluation method used. Ethical approval for conducting the studies was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf (study number 2020-1067).



Fig. 3. Graphical representation of the three different measurement points within the "Arbeitsmedizinische KiTa-Studie"

Table 1. Overview of studies included in the dissertation

Study	Chapter	Research Aim	Evaluation	Reference
1	2	 Exploratory qualitative design investigating the: practical implementation of preventive measures by ECPs perceptions and evaluations of implemented measures changes in working conditions as a result of the implemented measures impact of the measures on the well-being of ECPs 	Content analysis using MAXQDA Software (VERBI Software. Con- sult., 1989 – 2023)	(Gritzka et al., 2022)
2	3	 Quantitatively assessing the: prevalence of work-related work stress (i.e., effort-reward imbalance) and overcommitment during the COVID-19 pandemic prevalence of somatic symptoms (PHQ-15) among ECPs during the COVID-19 pandemic association between psychosocial work stress (ERI, overcommitment) and somatic symptoms (PHQ-15) 	Multiple logistic regression using SPSS	(Gritzka, An- gerer, Er- schens, & Diebig, 2023)
3	4	 Quantitatively assessing the: association between fear of COVID-19 and subjective well-be- ing (WHO-5) relationship between COVID-19-re- lated work stressors (i.e., perceived risk of infection and poor employer support) and fear of COVID-19 mediating role of fear of COVID-19 in the relationship between COVID-19- in the relationship between COVID-19- in the relationship between COVID-19- support) and stressors and sub- jective well-being (WHO-5) 	Mediation analy- sis and the esti- mation of indi- rect effects us- ing SPSS with the Hayes PRO- CESS Macro (Hayes, 2018)	(Gritzka, An- gerer, & Die- big, 2023)

2 <u>Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Pietrowsky, R., & Diebig, M.</u> (2022). The Impact of the Implementation of Preventive Measures Due to COVID-19 on Work Design and Early Childhood Professionals' Well-Being-A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031739 3 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Erschens, R., & Diebig, M. (2023). Der Zusammenhang von gesundheitskritischen Arbeitsbelastungen und somatischen Symptomen bei frühpädagogischen Fachkräften in der Kindertagesbetreuung während der COVID-19-Pandemie [The Relationship of Work Stress and Somatic Symptoms Among Early Childhood Professionals During the COVID-19 Pandemic]. Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, medizinische Psychologie. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-2055-1738 4 Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., & Diebig, M. (2024). The Mediating Role of Fear of COVID-19 in the Association between COVID-19-Related Work Stressors and Subjective Well-being: Path Analysis by Cross-sectional Evidence in the Child Care Sector across Three Samples. Journal of occupational and environmental medicine, 66(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002997

5 Discussion

The COVID-19 pandemic has underscored the essential role of ECPs in the field of ECEC, highlighting its importance as vital infrastructure for community and economic development (Yamoah et al., 2023). However, newfound recognition came at a cost to ECPs, who had to deal with pre-existing structural challenges, demanding working conditions, and profound adaptions during the pandemic. Despite the transition of the pandemic into an endemic phase in the latter half of 2021, driven by the immunization of approximately 70% of the global population (loannidis, 2022), it was not until May 2023 that the WHO officially declared the end of the pandemic (World Health Organization, 2023a). Nevertheless, scholars caution against the lack of systematic analysis of the pandemic and its associated measures to extract sufficient insights and lessons. Failure to do so leaves the world dangerously unprepared for future pandemic threats or similar crises (Clark et al., 2022). This dissertation aims to contribute to pandemic preparedness efforts by conducting comprehensive research among German child care facilities at three different measurement points. Pandemic preparedness represents the capacity of institutions, such as health systems and public health authorities, to successfully anticipate, detect, respond to, and mitigate disease outbreaks with the goal of alleviating the health, societal, and economic consequences of outbreaks (Oppenheim et al., 2019). While pandemic preparedness is intricate, it is typically assessed through the lenses of surveillance, response, and health care capacity (Sands et al., 2016). This dissertation focuses on pandemic preparedness through the lens of OHS by examining the impact of the pandemic on the working conditions and health of ECPs as essential workers. When interpreting the results, it is crucial to consider that there is no single COVID-19 pandemic. Instead, the following discussion draws on research from various phases, each with distinct regulations, infection rates, and pandemic management approaches, conducted in different countries.

In the subsequent sections of the discussion, chapter 5.1 systematically presents and interprets the qualitative findings, followed by the discussion of the quantitative findings in chapter 5.2. The next chapter 5.3 reflects on the strengths and limitations of this dissertation project. Finally, chapter 5.4 highlights the implications regarding future research and practice.

5.1 Summary of qualitative findings in published literature context

5.1.1 Implementing preventive measures in child care

A qualitative study explored the implementation of COVID-19 preventive measures in ECEC settings, as well as the perception of these measures and their impact on working conditions and well-being. Qualitative interviews were conducted with 27 child care managers (mean age = 48 years ± 10.76; range = 30-63 years; 93% female). The interviewees exhibited a high degree of diversity in terms of leadership experience, employment in their respective child care centers, and the size of the centers (i.e., the number of children and ECPs). This diversity allowed for a comprehensive understanding of the reopening process and the implementation of preventive measures. The protective effect against the spread of COVID-19 infections through preventive measures in ECEC centers has been demonstrated (Neuberger et al., 2022). However, qualitative research conducted within this dissertation project uncovered the negative impact of these measures on the work and well-being of ECPs during the period between June and August 2020, which marked the reopening after lock-down. At this point, only selected results are presented and discussed, given the wealth of insights derived from the interviews.

Implementing predefined governmental OHS measures presented challenges, including fixed staff compositions that resulted in staff shortages and inflexibility. The more stringent handling of symptomatic management was demanding, particularly when engaging in discussions with parents. Intensified hygiene practices and the reorganization of indoor and outdoor areas to comply with OHS measures also imposed physical demands. These findings were largely consistent with another qualitative study conducted with child care managers by the DJI and RKI (Robert Koch Institut, 2021a). In contrast to Gritzka et al. (2022), the RKI and DJI study is primarily focused on describing the measures and provides fewer insights into how these measures may have affected the work and well-being of ECPs.

While the implementation of measures was found to be feasible according to child care managers, it was only manageable through the high level of commitment displayed by ECPs and the availability of resources (e.g., adequate staffing, perceiving the implementation of measures as a team effort, personal resilience, and parental cooperation). Research generally indicates that ECPs often demonstrate overcommitment in their work (Backhaus et al., 2018b). Most of the literature on the reopening of
educational institutions following the COVID-19 lockdown has focused on strategies for reopening primary and secondary schools (Lordan et al., 2020; Sheikh et al., 2020; Viner et al., 2021). Only a few studies have investigated the feasibility of implementing preventive measures and adherence to them. Consistent with our findings, these studies have also highlighted the critical role of staff commitment and communication among stakeholders. They have also described barriers to rapid implementation, such as challenges related to physical environments, parental adherence, inadequate guidance, and the need to balance preventive measures with educational goals (Amin-Chowdhury et al., 2022; Sundaram et al., 2021). A systematic review examined the preventive measures taken in schools in the WHO European Region and highlighted their potential impact on children's health and safety but overlooked the effects on educational staff (Lo Moro et al., 2020). In this qualitative study, child care managers emphasized the necessity of adapting certain measures to the needs of young children. It can be assumed that implementing infection control measures may be more challenging in child care settings with infants, requiring additional efforts to adhere to these measures (Green et al., 2021). This placed a particular burden on ECPs who had to constantly balance infection control measures with meeting the needs of the children. Research showed that workers who were unable to work remotely, such as ECPs, and whose infection control needs were not met exhibited the highest prevalence of anxiety and depressive symptoms among all workers during the COVID-19 pandemic (Smith et al., 2021).

The qualitative interviews provided additional insights into the perception and evaluation of the implemented measures. Child care managers assessed these measures as stress-inducing and challenging, categorizing them as work stressors that contributed to perceived stress. Research indicates that this appraisal represents an underlying mechanism crucial for employees to effectively adapt to their work environments (Gomes et al., 2013). Furthermore, these measures were described as lacking clarity (i.e., offering excessive decision latitude), exhibiting ambiguity, and providing information that was perceived as medical and overwhelming. The reasonableness of the measures was complicated by the fact that their implementation significantly altered the entire process of child care and the occupational role of ECPs. While the measures may have made sense from an infection prevention perspective, they raised practical questions. This aspect of reasonableness was further complicated by the contrast between the more relaxed measures in the public sphere and the stricter measures in ECEC. Other studies have shown that individuals with greater knowledge,

trust in political decisions, and a less pessimistic perception of the COVID-19 situation are more likely to embrace preventive measures (Shen et al., 2021). Consequently, the critical perspectives held by child care managers may have presented challenges to the effective implementation of preventive measures and could have hindered adaptation to other workplace changes.

5.1.2 Working conditions and well-being during the reopening-phase

The changes resulting from the implemented measures were mapped onto work characteristics related to (1) work organization, (2) work tasks and content, and (3) the social work environment.

Firstly, these measures resulted in an overall increase in workload, a trend observed in studies among ECPs in various regions, including North America (Crawford et al., 2021), Australia (Berger et al., 2022) as well as Germany, Finland and Israel (Heikkinen et al., 2023). Furthermore, Gritzka et al. (2022) suggested that these measures may have amplified existing work stressors (c.f. chapter 1.3.1 and 1.3.4). Noise levels, for instance, intensified due to children being grouped in a single room. Overtime became necessary to promptly implement these short-term changes. Interruptions occurred when ECPs were mentally and physically diverted from their tasks during child drop-offs and pick-ups. Multitasking became the norm as ECPs had to adhere to enhanced hygiene measures during various caregiving and educational activities.

Secondly, in terms of work content, the nature of tasks shifted towards being more directive and less focused on child development and child-friendliness. A German study reported a significant reduction in the quality of care, as noted by child care managers, due to COVID-19 measures (Grgic et al., 2022). Pedagogical activities could no longer be carried out as usual due to preventive measures like fixed group settings. Additionally, greater attention was required for anxious children or those kept at home by their parents, necessitating remote engagement by ECPs. These findings align with another study where ECPs expressed a feeling of performing an entirely different job or multiple job roles simultaneously (Quinn et al., 2022). A longitudinal study further demonstrated that ECPs engaged in fewer pedagogical tasks, particularly when child care managers faced difficulties in implementing these measure (Diefenbacher et al., 2022). Research conducted before the pandemic indicated that ECPs often experienced stress from tasks unrelated to pedagogy and from making concessions in their caregiving approaches (Hall-Kenyon et al., 2014). Therefore, additional

"illegitimate" tasks resulting from preventive measures challenged an ECP's professional identity and may have diminished their sense of purpose in their work (Semmer et al., 2015).

Thirdly, changes were observed in the social work environment. Interactions among staff, leadership, and teams were perceived as complex, hindering effective teamwork. Communication with parents shifted predominantly to digital media, with minimal in-person communication centered around discussions about measures. ECPs reported enduring damage to their relationships with parents, a finding corroborated by a recent longitudinal study. Scholars have suggested that staff-parent interactions deteriorated due to the implementation of preventive measures during the COVID-19 pandemic, including restricted non-verbal communication and reduced daily conversations. In contrast, staff-child interactions showed relatively moderate changes in the same study (Neuberger et al., 2023). This study also provided evidence that parents who refused to accept COVID-19 measures, such as bringing children with colds to ECEC centers, significantly contributed to poorer staff-parent interactions, a phenomenon also noted in Gritzka et al. (2022).

The qualitative interviews revealed that the measures in place and the heightened stress resulting from changed working conditions had adverse consequences for the well-being of ECPs. This aligns with quantitative studies indicating that the pandemic increased perceived stress levels (Bigras et al., 2021; Quinn et al., 2022) and decreased the well-being among ECPs (Bigras et al., 2021). Additionally, one study found that one-third of ECPs and child care managers experienced moderate-to-high post-traumatic distress and symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder during the COVID-19 pandemic (Berger et al., 2022). In Gritzka et al. (2022), child care managers reported feelings of emotional and psychological exhaustion. Interestingly, pre-pandemic research indicated that team support, a clearly defined job role, and confidence in job performance served as protective factors against emotional exhaustion and burnout in ECPs (Løvgren, 2016). However, within the context of the implemented measures, these three factors were limited. Child care managers reported feeling underappreciated by both parents and society, leading to frustration and anger. This underappreciation among ECPs displays a recurring theme in literature before the COVID-19 pandemic (Hitzenberger & Schuett, 2017; Nagel-Prinz & Paulus, 2012). Given the increased workload and unique circumstances, the desire for greater recognition likely intensified. Frustration was evident as child care managers often compared themselves to teachers and medical professionals, whom they perceived as receiving more recognition from the media and society. Furthermore, the lack of interaction with the entire child care community, including staff, children, and parents, diminished their sense of belonging to a broader social collective. This is important as research showed that a sense of belonging in the workplace positively correlates with mental well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic (Capone et al., 2022). In line with other research among Australian ECPs, child care managers perceived a high risk of infection in their work environment due to close proximity with children and expressed fear of COVID-19 (Berger et al., 2022). A review comprising data from 91 studies documented that fear of COVID-19 was associated with depressive and anxiety symptoms, stress, and low mental well-being (Alimoradi et al., 2022). Lastly, concerns about the future, especially regarding the introduction of new measures, were prevalent. This underscores the burden associated with the implemented measures.

5.2 Summary of quantitative findings in published literature context

5.2.1 Work stress and somatic health during the COVID-19 pandemic

The study conducted by Gritzka et al. (2023a) examined the relationship between work-related stress (i.e., operationalized as an Effort-Reward Imbalance; ERI) and somatic symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, prevalence rates for an ERI, moderate to high symptom severity, and overcommitment were assessed. A total of 1009 ECPs, predominantly female (92.3%), with an average age of 42.83 years (SD $= \pm 12.42$; range = 18–70), participated in the study. It was assumed that new COVID-19-related work stressors coupled with a lack of perceived reward for heightened workload, may increase the experience of an ERI and somatic symptoms among ECPs. The results indicate that 72.3% of the sample experienced an ERI, and 25% of ECPs exhibited a high level of overcommitment. Contrary to expectations, the experience of ERI falls in line with the figures described prior to the COVID-19 pandemic: German studies reported prevalence rates for an ERI between 65% (Koch et al., 2017) and 89.3% (Backhaus et al., 2018b). Contrary to the descriptions in the qualitative study conducted by Gritzka et al. (2022) and other studies that reported higher stress levels (Bigras et al., 2021; Quinn et al., 2022), this study did not find increased work stress in terms of an ERI. Yet, the number still exceeds the comparison value of various professional groups in multicohort studies (31.7%) (Dragano et al., 2017), signifying that ECPs encounter a higher-than-average level of work stress.

Other studies found that the ERI among paramedical and medical professionals increased during the pandemic (Delamarre et al., 2022). While there is an established cut-off value for an ERI, a cut-off value does not exist for overcommitment. Different calculation methods based on quantiles have been employed in the literature to define high overcommitment, making it difficult to compare. However, during the qualitative study, child care managers consistently emphasized the high levels of overcommitment displayed by ECPs. The results in Gritzka et al. (2023a) suggest that the stressful period and the balancing act between ECEC responsibilities and OHS concerns did not increase the levels of overcommitment, as it is a personality trait. Instead, it may have brought the existing high overcommitment among ECPs to light. Based on the mean value of overcommitment (M = 15.1), the sample of ECPs demonstrated higher overcommitment compared to other professional groups (Nuebling et al., 2013). However, within their own professional cohort, this high level appears to be consistent with prior research (Backhaus et al., 2018b; Darius et al., 2022).

Nevertheless, investigating the change of ECPs' work-related stress and somatic symptoms from a pre-pandemic to a pandemic state is challenging due to the absence of longitudinal data within the literature. No longitudinal studies are available to enable the comparison of the situation before, during, and after the outbreak of COVID-19. Therefore, only results from different studies with various samples can be compared with each other. In Gritzka et al. (2023a), the four-week prevalence of somatic symptoms with moderate to high severity was 45.2%. This result corroborates the finding of Backhaus et al. (2018b) who reported a seven-day prevalence rate of 47.3% for somatic symptoms in ECPs. However, the timeframe, but more importantly the different measurement instruments need to be considered in this context. The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-15; Kocalevent, 2013) categorizes somatic symptom severity into 'minimal', 'mild', 'moderate', and 'severe' levels. In contrast, the questionnaire used by Backhaus et al. (2018b) (i.e., 10-item somatic symptoms scale from the Burnout Screening Scales; Hagemann, W., & Geuenich, K., 2014) only captures the presence of somatic symptoms. It does not assess the severity of symptoms. Therefore, when interpreting the data, it is important to note that 45.2% represents the prevalence rate for moderate-to-severe symptom severity compared to 47.3% as the prevalence rate for the presence of somatic symptoms. Examining studies that utilized the PHQ-15 within the broader German population, four-week prevalence rates ranged from 9.3% to 14.9% before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, for women 10.3% to 19.9% respectively (Hinz et al., 2017; Kocalevent, 2013). During the COVID-19

pandemic, a four-week prevalence between 7.6% and 15.3% was observed (Deimel et al., 2022). Therefore, the prevalence found in the study by Gritzka et al. (2023a) is to be considered exceptionally high.

Work-related stress significantly increased the odds of experiencing moderate to high somatic severity by a factor of 4.1 (Gritzka et al. 2023a). This finding aligns with previous research that explored the association between work stress in terms of ERI and musculoskeletal complaints in ECPs (odds ratio = 4.0) (Koch et al., 2017), as well as associations between work stress and psychosomatic complaints (odds ratio = 4.4) in a large sample of employees (Jonge et al., 2000). The relationship was not moderated by overcommitment. However, it was observed in the study by Gritzka et al. (2023a), that overcommitment increased the odds of experiencing moderate to high somatic severity by a factor of 5.2. This implies that, amid the COVID-19 pandemic, possessing a high level of overcommitment had a more adverse effect on somatic health compared to work-related stress. It indicates that, even though the degree of overcommitment may have remained consistent as a personality trait, it had a strong impact on somatic symptoms when considering the odds ratios range mentioned in a review (odds ratio = 1.9 - 5.9) (van Vegchel et al., 2005). This could be due to the lack of established coping strategies, like team support, during the COVID-19 pandemic. There is a limited body of research that has examined employees' overcommitment during the pandemic, in particular its association with somatic health. One study suggests that during the COVID-19 pandemic, overcommitment may be a stronger predictor of poorer mental health outcomes than ERI (Shkembi et al., 2023). It is important to note, however, that the sample size in the study by Shkembi et al. (2023) was relatively small, with N = 68 participants. Other COVID-19 research showed that employees exhibiting high overcommitment are at increased risk of mental distress (Casjens et al., 2022). The same study highlighted the role of poor employer instructions and occupational infection risk on mental distress, which are also prevalent COVID-19-related stressors within the ECEC work environment.

5.2.2 COVID-19-related stressors and psychological well-being

While study 2 investigated the experience of work stress and its impact on physical health, study 3 focused on observing COVID-19-related working conditions and psychological well-being. Gritzka et al. (2023b) conceptualized the perceived risk of infection and poor employer support as COVID-19-related work stressors particularly present in ECEC settings. By developing an integrative research framework, it was postulated that the fear of COVID-19 is rooted in COVID-19-related work stressors and is related to subjective well-being. It was further hypothesized that the fear of COVID-19 acts as a mediator between COVID-19-related work stressors and subjective wellbeing. This mediation hypothesis was supported in two out of three samples, as Gritzka et al. (2023b) utilized three cross-sectional samples of ECPs to validate the established research framework (NT1 = 423, NT2 = 142, NT3 = 584). In accordance with the qualitative findings in Gritzka et al. (2022), findings demonstrated that ECPs perceive a high risk of infection within their workplace ($M_{T1} = 4.3$, $M_{T2} = 4.3$, $M_{T3} = 4.4$ on a five-point Likert scale). This perception aligns with research that statistically modeled the occupational infection risk of COVID-19 (Zhang, 2021). Among non-health care occupations, ECPs were identified as one of the occupations at the highest risk of contracting COVID-19. Factors such as disease exposure and close physical proximity to others accounted for nearly 48% of the variability in occupational risk prevalence (Zhang, 2021). Indeed, German ECPs accounted for 8.3% of reported COVID-19 cases within various occupational groups between January and October 2021. This placed ECPs second, following nurses who had the most reported COVID-19 cases accounting for 66.5%, while physicians ranked third with 4.5% (Nienhaus & Schneider, 2022). Other descriptive data obtained in Gritzka et al. (2023b) highlights the low subjective wellbeing of ECPs as measured by the WHO-5 (M_{T1} = 53.5, M_{T2} = 47.5, M_{T3} = 48.4). These scores are significantly lower than the average score of the general German population during the COVID-19 pandemic (M = 56.8) (Kuehner et al., 2020). However, a previous study conducted with German ECPs shortly before the pandemic reported a mean score of M = 49.8 (Backhaus et al., 2018a). This suggests that ECPs experienced very low subjective well-being both before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is worth noting that a high percentage of participants in these samples scored below the cut-off value of \leq 50, indicating a positive screening for depression (Topp et al., 2015). Nonetheless, it is also essential to consider the gender composition of this profession, with 93% being women, as the prevalence of depressive disorders is known to be higher among women than men (Kuehner, 2003).

The majority of research has centered on factors contributing to the fear of COVID-19 within the personal environment, such as chronic illnesses or family infectivity (Cerda & García, 2022), and has been conducted among the general population (e.g., Malesza & Kaczmarek, 2021). Gritzka et al. (2023b) shed light on the role of work-related factors in shaping the fear of COVID-19 among ECPs. This finding offers a potential explanation for why COVID-19-related working conditions negatively impact

subjective well-being. In accordance with the stress(or)-strain framework (cf. chapter 1.3), it could be posited that the fear of COVID-19 represents a short-term consequence of strain, particularly when the perceived risk of infection and poor employer support are perceived as threatening, depending on individual factors (e.g., general health, coping strategies, resources). Fear has been described as a potential shortterm strain consequence within the stress(or)-strain framework (Joiko et al., 2010). Considering the prolonged duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and the high intensity of stressors within the ECEC work environment, it is plausible that this short-term strain may have led to long-term consequences, particularly in terms of reduced subjective well-being. Other COVID-19 research, building upon the stressor-strain framework, has conceptualized the fear of infection and lack of support as stressors and found them to be associated with depression, anxiety, and strain among nurses (Lorente et al., 2021). Therefore, it remains challenging to definitively identify the role of the fear of infection, whether it acts primarily as a stressor or is itself a short-term strain outcome. In line with Gritzka et al. (2023b), several studies showed that the fear of COVID-19 acts as a mediator between risk perception and mental health outcomes such as depression, anxiety, and stress (Yıldırım et al., 2022) as well as between perceived health status and mental health (Ahorsu et al., 2020). All the aforementioned studies, including Gritzka et al. (2023b), share the limitation of cross-sectional designs, preventing to determine the causal ordering of fear of COVID-19. Among other, this limitation will be discussed in the next chapter.

5.3 Strengths and limitations

5.3.1 Study design

One major strength of this dissertation is the use of both qualitative and quantitative research methods to gain a comprehensive understanding of ECPs' work during the COVID-19 pandemic. This approach followed a convergent design, with qualitative interviews running concurrently with the quantitative surveys (Creswell, 2015). The status of the design as a true mixed-methods approach is uncertain due to the lack of clarity regarding whether the participants in the qualitative interviews also took part in the quantitative survey. The qualitative design was opted to pursue an exploratory approach (Kuckartz, 2014). This choice was particularly valuable in the context of applied health research, given the novelty of the research topic (Rendle et al., 2019; Stebbins, 2001). While the dissertation project involved multiple cross-sectional measurements

at different phases of the pandemic, it deviated from the originally planned longitudinal design. The initial study protocol was quickly developed to begin research activities when ECEC facilities in NRW reopened on June 8, 2020. This study was implemented right after another study conducted at the Institute of Virology at the Heinrich Heine University, which was investigating COVID-19 infections in ECEC facilities in the same city (Lübke et al., 2021). However, during the qualitative interviews, it was discovered that most facilities were declined from participating in the virological study due to limited testing capacities. This may have resulted in a low initial willingness to participate in this occupational medicine study. Additionally, the study's design, particularly its longitudinal aspect, could have been enhanced by selecting a predetermined number of participating ECEC facilities rather than initiating contact with all available facilities within the city. However, the choice to collaborate with the youth welfare office was made to improve the reputation and trustworthiness of this research project (cf. 5.3.2) Sampling and selection bias). Unfortunately, the initially planned longitudinal design could not be realized. Indeed, out of the total number of participating ECPs only 4.6% participated at both T1 and T2, 6.2% at both T1 and T3, 3.0% at both T2 and T3, and 1.7% at all three measurement time points. Therefore, the cross-sectional designs in study 2 and study 3 do not allow for the determination of causal relationships. As a result, the possibility of reverse or reciprocal causality between the constructs cannot be ruled out. It is important to acknowledge this limitation when interpreting the findings.

5.3.2 Sampling and selection bias

At the start of the research project in June 2020, there were 361 child centers and 174 family child care providers officially registered with the city, employing approximately 6,500 ECPs. Recruitment was supported by the youth welfare office. It distributed information about the project and survey invitations to all registered ECEC providers. These materials were then forwarded to child care centers, family child care providers, child care managers, and ECPs. Consequently, an exact response rate cannot be calculated, as it remains unclear how many ECPs were informed about the study and had access to the survey. Thus, response rates cannot be compared with existing literature data. Nevertheless, a total of 1,009 different individuals were reached across all measurement points, representing approximately 15% of the employed ECPs in the city. A notable strength of this research project lies in the extensive efforts undertaken to enhance ECPs' willingness to participate. For instance, the research project was framed and branded as the "Arbeitsmedizinische KiTa-Studie" to make it more appealing and relevant to the target audience (Shropshire et al., 2009). Additionally, the study team emphasized the personal significance and practical approach with political stakeholders (i.e., MKFFI), accompanied by customized informational materials (van Quaquebeke et al., 2022). During the first data collection period, the reception of money lotteries was tested by using random selection through pseudonymized codes. However, out of 100 lotteries, only two winners responded, suggesting that this measure provided little to no benefit, as supported by the literature (Göritz & Luthe, 2013). In addition, online reminders, personalized postcards, and branded advent calendars were sent to the facilities. Interim results were reported in plain language. Contrary to expectations, the literature shows that sharing general study results may lower response rates (Göritz, 2010). It is recommended instead to incentivize participants by offering personalized feedback (Kühne & Kroh, 2018). However, providing such feedback can be challenging due to limited personnel and time resources.

This study was further limited by the absence of a non-responder analysis. Therefore, there is a potential non-response bias, indicating potential differences between respondents and non-respondents (Schupp & Wolf, 2015). Nevertheless, during the second data collection period in December 2020, phone contact with approximately 100 randomly selected ECEC facilities was made, reminding them about the survey and offering to resend the invitation link. Questions also inquired about potential reasons for non-participation. Several reasons were mentioned, including: (1) a feeling of low locus of control ("It won't make any difference anyway"), (2) not realizing that there were multiple survey time points ("But I already participated in summer"), (3) staffing shortages due to illness absences, (4) temporary closures of ECEC facilities due to COVID-19, (5) high workloads and limited time to complete the survey, (6) the survey being perceived as too long and time-consuming, and (7) an official ban on cell phones in the facilities, preventing online survey participation. Regarding points (1) and (2), the communication and promotion of the survey was further improved. As for points (3), (4), and (5), these issues were beyond the researcher's control and were direct consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic or structural conditions in ECEC. However, we were able to address points (6) and (7). For T2, some survey instruments were already removed to reduce its length compared to T1. Regarding point (7), the data collection methods were altered, with a primary focus on using paper-pencil versions for the third measurement time point. Despite the efforts to ensure equal representation of each ECP in the city through random sampling methods in the quantitative approach,

(Etikan, 2017), the possibility of selection bias cannot be eliminated and presents a limitation (Winship & Mare, 1992). Thus, the outreach efforts through the youth welfare office may have mainly targeted child care providers willing to support this research project and acknowledge its significance. Furthermore, the distribution of study invitations may have been limited to child care managers who are either interested in the research topic or find it feasible for themselves or their staff to participate. Consequently, the same potential for self-selection bias may have occurred among the participating ECPs. In general, it can be assumed that the selection bias in qualitative research (cf. study 1) due to non-probability sampling is even higher (Robinson, 2014). The potential for self-selection bias cannot be ruled out in our qualitative interviews, as it is possible that only child care managers who were inclined to be interviewed or had a strong desire to express discontent with policy measures were included in the sample. Yet, our qualitative study achieved a broad range of opinions by conducting interviews with child care managers who varied in work experience, sociodemographic characteristics, and ECEC designs. The sample size of 27 was relatively large due to two main factors. Firstly, a diverse range of child care managers provided detailed and varied accounts until data saturation was achieved. Secondly, the study had broad exploratory objectives that required a comprehensive sample.

In terms of representativeness with regard to the quantitative studies, the demographic variables, specifically age and gender, of the samples conform to the German occupational population of ECPs (Deutsches Jugendinstitut, 2022). However, the proportion of child care managers (i.e., ECPs with a leadership position) appears to be significantly higher than reported in the overall population. Thus, in our survey, there are only two to three ECPs without managerial roles for each child care manager. This limitation also arises from the recruitment strategy, where child care managers may have participated in the survey but may not have forwarded it to their staff. Furthermore, the study was conducted only in one city in NRW, so rural regions or other federal states are not represented. The ECEC system in Germany operates under the principle of subsidiarity, resulting in a high degree of decentralization. Each of the 16 federal states establishes its own laws, regulations, and education plans based on general national guidelines. This results in high heterogeneity in ECEC conditions across the country (Schreyer & Krause, 2016).

5.3.3 Data collection and analysis

The qualitative interviews were conducted via telephone due to contact restrictions. While it is possible that in-person interviews could have yielded different content, it can be assumed that the content obtained through telephone interviews is equivalent (Sturges & Hanrahan, 2004). Qualitative research has its limitations, such as potential interviewer and coder influence, as well as socially desirable responses from interviewees (Helfferich, 2010). To mitigate bias, a semi-structured interview guide was developed, which was pilot-tested with experts from the youth welfare office beforehand. During a warm-up phase, interviewees were informed that there were no right or wrong answers, and only their opinions mattered. Furthermore, the transcripts were independently coded by two researchers, with a third researcher assisting in resolving any coding discrepancies. An iterative process was employed to minimize subjectivity in the interpretation of findings and ensure alignment with the interviewees' intended perspectives. It is worth noting that interviews were conducted until thematic saturation was achieved, indicating that additional interviews would not have yielded new categories (Saunders et al., 2018). However, one limitation in qualitative content analysis remains due to the risk of diminishing the meaningfulness of individual cases due to the reduction of content based on categories (Mayring, 2010).

In line with existing literature, there were no differences in the responses obtained from quantitative paper-based and online survey methods (Beuckelaer & Lievens, 2009). However, both survey methods exhibited missing values. After careful consideration and following guidance from the literature, multiple imputation was employed in study 3 to address these missing values. For most individual items, the 5% threshold was not exceeded, except for one item in the PHQ-5 ("pain or problems during sexual intercourse," 11.7%). However, the cumulative missing values would have exceeded 5% after building the overall scale score. Multiple imputation techniques have been demonstrated to be the superior method for handling missing values in complex datasets, particularly if the proportion of missing data is above 5% (Jakobsen et al., 2017). By employing multiple imputation, the aim was to maximize the number of usable cases, thereby enhancing the statistical power of the analyses and fully utilizing the informational richness within the data (Böwing-Schmalenbrock & Jurczok, 2012). Overall, it is questionable whether the two items "menstrual cramps or other problems with your periods" and "pain or problems during sexual intercourse" are appropriate in a non-clinical context, as the PHQ-15 is primarily designed for use in clinical settings and primary care (Kocalevent, 2013). In the paper versions, ECPs wrote margin notes questioning the relevance of these items for the survey and refused to answer them. To account for potential biases, logistic regression analyses were conducted for all parameters, considering control variables. Adjustments were made for age, gender, and leadership position. It might have been advantageous to include other additional control variables (e.g., weekly working hours).

5.4 Implications

5.4.1 Implications for future research

The dissertation project provides an overview of German ECPs' working conditions, psychological, and physical health during the COVID-19 pandemic. Given that the pandemic has now reached an endemic state as of May 2023 (World Health Organization, 2023b), fewer direct recommendations for future pandemic research can be made.

In Gritzka et. al (2022), a qualitative approach obtained highly valuable insights of pandemic management in ECEC. Future studies could retrospectively gather best practices that have been most effective in managing the pandemic. Addressing these questions could be achieved through focus groups with ECPs as practical experts. The social context could help to generate ideas in a naturalistic setting regarding organizational or structural pandemic preparedness as well as adequate responses for future crises and pandemics (Ritchie et al., 2018). Additionally, it would be interesting to determine if preventive measures have been maintained in the long-term and if they have the capacity to facilitate ECPs' work even after the pandemic. For instance, during the gualitative interviews it was mentioned that the restriction of parents' entry into facilities had partially reduced discussions with parents and that children had become more independent. Yet, recent research indicates that outdoor pick-ups and drop-offs with parents remaining outdoors, had a significant negative impact on the quality of interaction between ECPs and parents in the long-term (Neuberger et al., 2023). It is also interesting to explore which trainable personal variables (e.g., hope, optimism, resilience, self-efficacy) and team-related variables (e.g., leadership effectiveness, communication) contribute to the successful implementation of preventive measures in the workplace during crises. Another avenue for future research should focus on exploring the resilience mechanisms and coping strategies employed by ECPs. Understanding the specific factors that contribute to their ability to adapt and thrive in challenging

circumstances can inform targeted behavioral interventions on an individual as well as team-level.

Future work should include a systematic review that systematically searches and synthesizes studies on ECPs' work and health during the pandemic. This is crucial due to the surge in publications during the COVID-19 pandemic (Riccaboni & Verginer, 2022). While Gritzka et al. (2023b) identified two specific pandemic-related work stressors, future research could investigate and quantify additional pandemic-related factors that affect the ECEC work environment and, consequently, the health of ECPs. Other research questions should aim to further elucidate the relationship between pandemic-related work stressors, the fear of infection, and well-being. It is also worth considering additional mediators or moderators, such as general health or resilience, within the integrated research framework. However, causal relationships can only be definitively determined through longitudinal data.

Another research question pertains to how much organizational autonomy and decision latitude is desired by employees in terms of preventive measures during a pandemic. According to the Job Demand-Control Model (Karasek, 1979) or the Job Demand-Control-Support Model (Johnson & Hall, 1988; Johnson et al., 1989), employees who have a high level of control (i.e., making own decisions related to work) experience less levels of stress as they have the ability to manage their work environment. Yet, the literature and most theoretical models refer this decision latitude to one's work tasks, rather to organizational decision latitude (Dhondt et al., 2014). However, more research is needed to distinguish the role of organizational decision latitude. Our results suggest a preference for reduced decision latitude regarding measures in ECEC, primarily due to the high uncertainty at that time.

Overall, it is necessary to conduct longitudinal studies in stress research within the ECEC sector, as such studies are scarce among this workforce.

5.4.2 Implication for pandemic occupational health and safety management in child care

Results within this dissertation help to identify areas for the improvement of pandemic preparedness. This chapter highlights key areas to advance pandemic OHS management in ECEC for future pandemics and crises. This comprises a holistic approach. By addressing these areas, ECEC can effectively respond to adverse events, not only after such crises, but also before, during, and after. Thereby organizational resilience will be developed which better equips organizations to manage crises and ensure the well-being of ECPs (Duchek, 2019).

First, the development of guidelines for pandemic OHS management in ECEC should involve a participatory approach (Diebig et al., 2021). This means actively including ECPs, policymakers, parents, and relevant experts in the decision-making process. By incorporating diverse perspectives and expertise, guidelines can be comprehensive, contextually appropriate, and readily accepted by ECPs. This can enhance commitment and collective sense-making processes which ultimately predetermine the success of putting guidelines in action (May, 2013). It is important to address the concerns and doubts expressed by ECPs regarding the reasonableness and effectiveness of measures. When developing guidelines, all measures should be carefully considered from the perspective of OHS, assessing whether they may, for instance, alter working conditions and, if so, how this may impact health. Providing up-front information on pandemic management, fostering trust, and reducing negative appraisals can contribute to a more positive perception of preventive measures.

Secondly, following the development of participatory guidelines, it is essential to integrate comprehensive training and education programs for ECPs. Research shows that pandemic preparedness trainings can increase knowledge and behavioral intentions (Gershon et al., 2009). These trainings should focus on equipping ECPs with the necessary knowledge and skills to effectively implement preventive measures. These can be introduced in training programs for staff as well as incorporated as a fixed component of apprenticeships for new ECPs.

Thirdly, a key step is to strengthen collaboration and communication among stakeholders during times of crises. This includes fostering partnerships between ECEC centers, public health authorities, educational institutions, and relevant organizations. Establishing clear lines of communication and regular information sharing channels (e.g., one information channel) will facilitate the dissemination of critical updates. Thereby, ECPs will have first-hand access to accurate and timely information. This is of heightened relevance, as research demonstrated that consistent information and community-building buffered the well-being of employees during the COVID-19 pandemic (McKee et al., 2021). Furthermore, it is imperative to explore strategies for enhancing parent-staff collaboration and minimizing conflicts with parents during turbulent times.

Fourthly, external resources should be made available to support ECEC centers in their pandemic OHS management efforts. This includes financial support, access to PPE, as well as personnel resources to encounter the additional workload (e.g., craftsmen for additional physical demands, and cleaning staff for hygiene measures). The perception of adequate employer support by providing resources will help to decrease the fear in the workplace and buffer ECPs' well-being. It is therefore advisable to reduce both crisis-related work stressors and their perception while simultaneously increasing rewards, whether in financial form or through recognition. Implementing strategies that promote recognition and appreciation for essential workers can contribute to lower stress levels (Quinn et al., 2022).

Lastly, interventions should also address the psychological well-being of ECPs to teach coping skills and resilience strategies to buffer negative strain outcomes, during a pandemic and under normal circumstances. High levels of resilience and hope had a significant predictive effect on subjective well-being and psychological health during the COVID-19 pandemic (Yıldırım & Arslan, 2020). Furthermore, in adverse times, organizations should consider evaluating their employees' levels of overcommitment to identify individuals who are even at a higher-risk of strain.

5.4.3 Recommendations for practice in the long-term

In a recently published position paper, 150 scientists caution against the collapse of the German ECEC system and urge policymakers to bolster the system's resources (Fröhlich-Gildhoff, 2022). To improve working conditions and ECPs' health in the long-term, it is vital to implement political measures. Scholars concluded that a more effective strategy for supporting a healthy and sustainable ECP workforce involves changes at the organizational level rather than individual interventions (Corr et al., 2015). Ensuring enough ECPs in the next decade requires establishing a training infrastructure with pathways that can deliver a high-quality training. In turn, this needs the necessary personnel, including teachers and practice mentors (Bock-Famulla et al., 2021). Furthermore, offering attractive training conditions, such as training contracts and competitive compensation may attract a greater number of career entrants. Additionally, strategies for retaining ECPs and mitigating turnover rates must be addressed. It should be considered to align ECP salaries with those of teachers, given the educational role fulfilled by ECPs. This adjustment could lead to a shift in the public perception of the ECP profession and its societal recognition. In the future, ECPs themselves should actively participate in defining what constitutes attractive working conditions for them. For instance, insights from the business sector, which deals with retention factors and employer branding in times of skilled labor shortages, could inform

these efforts. These actions will increase the staff-to-child ratio which is a key mechanism for alleviating work demands and mitigating the stress experienced by ECPs. Workplace risk assessments, particularly including psychosocial factors, should be thoroughly conducted in ECEC settings (Beck & Lenhardt, 2019). This method enables the systematic identification and proactive enhancement of critical psychosocial aspects of work. Nevertheless, interventions should be implemented on both an individual behavioral level as well as organizational level (Montano et al., 2014). In accordance with the stressor-strain framework, stress can be positively influenced through interventions by enhancing individual coping strategies, resources, and skills. This can result in reduced negative strain outcomes or even the absence thereof. A brief online training course (less than three hours) significantly increased ECPs' knowledge of stress reduction, the usage of prevention strategies, and re-appraisal emotional strategies (Lang et al., 2020). Given the limited time resources of ECPs, this low-dosage intervention might be especially promising. While this can be classified as cognitivebehavioral stress management, it is equally important to consider relaxation-promoting strategies, such as meditation, breathing, progressive muscle relaxation as well as mindfulness based interventions (Kaluza, 2012). A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials summarized the improvement of anxiety, distress, depression and wellbeing after attending mindfulness trainings (Galante et al., 2021).

Moreover, psychological rewards, such as positive emotions related to their work, feelings of happiness, a sense of connection with children, recognition, and appreciation from others as well as self-efficacy experiences, are valuable resources for ECPs. Implementing measures to enhance these rewards can be instrumental in alleviating work-related stress, specifically addressing the issue of an imbalance between efforts and rewards (Lee et al., 2019). While such interventions lead to positive effects, the difficulty always remains in successfully implementing them in workplace settings. This is because those who need such measures the most often have the least time for them. Moreover, stress occurs while the employee is still at work. After work, however, ECPs' strain levels may still be high (Ganster & Rosen, 2013). Therefore, it is important to train psychological detachment from work. Psychological detachment from work serves as a mediating factor in the relationship between work stressors and strain, as well as between strain and well-being (Sonnentag & Fritz, 2015). Thus, developing strategies and recovery experiences for ECPs to detach from work on a frequent basis may help them recover from work stress outside of working hours (Sonnentag et al., 2008).

In addition to individual resources, team-related resources can also be essential. A recent cluster-randomized controlled trial demonstrated that leadership training for child care managers facilitated the integration of a supportive team environment to managing high workloads. ECPs with the highest workloads benefitted the most in terms of enhanced well-being (Stein et al., 2021). Generally, team and leadership support are perceived as essential resources for ECPs (Bloechliger & Bauer, 2016). The quality of team has an impact on ECPs' stress regulation (Nislin et al., 2016), the higher the quality, the lower ECPs' cortisol morning level (Nislin et al., 2015). Interventions that address team collaboration, team development, and team communication are crucial for the well-being of ECPs to establish a sense of collegiality and community (Hur, 2015; McMullen et al., 2020).

6 Conclusion

This dissertation aimed to gain insights into the working conditions and health of ECPs during the COVID-19 pandemic, which is relevant considering several factors. The working conditions of ECPs were already highly challenging prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Throughout the pandemic, ECPs were recognized as essential workers, playing a pivotal role in society. Nevertheless, the long-term prospects for this profession appear bleak due to inherent structural difficulties. The findings provide a deep understanding of ECPs' initial responses to preventive measures implemented during the early stages of the pandemic. Despite dedicated implementation, these measures negatively influenced the working conditions and well-being of ECPs. Although workrelated stress levels remained relatively consistent with pre-pandemic levels, it also demonstrates a strong association with somatic symptoms among ECPs. Furthermore, the results suggest additional pandemic-related stressors, such as perceived risk of infection and inadequate employer support, contributing to poor mental health among ECPs, mediated through the fear of COVID-19. Prevalence rates of moderate to high somatic symptoms and poor subjective well-being among ECPs exceeded those of the general German population. The data collection ended in May 2021. It was not until two years later that the pandemic was officially declared over. It remains uncertain whether the situation has further deteriorated. This dissertation reinforces the importance of improving working conditions that affect the mental and physical health of ECPs, which has been further emphasized by the pandemic. Furthermore, the dissertation highlights opportunities to enhance pandemic preparedness in ECEC settings

and, consequently, improve the well-being of ECPs. Based on this dissertation, it is strongly recommended to increase efforts in structural improvements as well as work health promotion during crises and far beyond. This will be necessary to maintain ECEC services and prosperity in Germany within the next decade. However, it should not come at the expense of ECPs' health.

7 <u>References</u>

Sozialgesetzbuch, 2013. https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/sgb_8/__24.html

- Ahorsu, D. K., Lin, C.-Y., & Pakpour, A. H. (2020). The Association Between Health Status and Insomnia, Mental Health, and Preventive Behaviors: The Mediating Role of Fear of COVID-19. *Gerontology & Geriatric Medicine*, 6, 2333721420966081. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333721420966081
- Alimoradi, Z., Ohayon, M. M., Griffiths, M. D., Lin, C.-Y., & Pakpour, A. H. (2022). Fear of COVID-19 and its association with mental health-related factors: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BJPsych Open*, *8*(2), e73. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2022.26
- Amin-Chowdhury, Z., Bertran, M., Kall, M., Ireland, G., Aiano, F., Powell, A., Jones, S. E., Brent, A. J., Brent, B. E., Baawuah, F., Okike, I., Beckmann, J., Garstang, J., Ahmad, S., Sundaram, N., Bonell, C [Chris], Langan, S. M., Hargreaves, J., & Ladhani, S. N. (2022). Parents' and teachers' attitudes to and experiences of the implementation of COVID-19 preventive measures in primary and secondary schools following reopening of schools in autumn 2020: A descriptive cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open, 12(9), e052171. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052171
- Verordnung über Arbeitsstätten (Arbeitsstättenverordnung ArbStättV), 2004. https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/arbst_ttv_2004/BJNR217910004.html
- Autor:innengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung. (2022). *Bildung in Deutschland 2022: Ein indikatorengestützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zum Bildungspersonal. Bildung in Deutschland: Vol. 2022.* wbv Publikation. https://www.bildungsbericht.de/de/bildungsberichte-seit-2006/bildungsbericht-2022 https://doi.org/10.3278/6001820hw
- Backhaus, O., Hampel, P., & Dadaczynski, K. (2018a). Depressionen bei Kita-Fachpersonal. *Frühe Bildung*, 7(4), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1026/2191-9186/a000397
- Backhaus, O., Hampel, P., & Dadaczynski, K. (2018b). Effort-Reward Imbalance and Burnout in German Kindergarten Educators. *European Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(3), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1027/2512-8442/a000012
- Baker, M. G., Peckham, T. K., & Seixas, N. S. (2020). Estimating the burden of United States workers exposed to infection or disease: A key factor in containing risk

of COVID-19 infection. *PloS One*, *15*(4), e0232452. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232452

- Beck, D., & Lenhardt, U. (2019). Consideration of psychosocial factors in workplace risk assessments: Findings from a company survey in Germany. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-019-01416-5
- Beehr, T. A. (2014). *Psychological Stress in the Workplace (Psychology Revivals)*. *Psychology Revivals*. Taylor and Francis.
- Berger, Quinones, G., Barnes, M., & Reupert, A. (2022). Early childhood educators' psychological distress and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 60, 298–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2022.03.005
- Berger, J., Niemann, D., Nolting, H.-D., Schiffhorst, G., Genz, H. O., & Kordt, M. (2000). Stress bei Erzieher/innen. Ergebnisse einer BGW-DAK-Studie über den Zusammenhang von Arbeitsbedingungen und Stressbelastung in ausgewählten Berufen. https://www.fachportal-paedagogik.de/literatur/vollan-zeige.html?Fld=1018032
- Berglund, B., Lindvall, T., & Schwela, Dietrich H & World Health Organization. (1999). *Guidelines for community noise*. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/66217
- Beuckelaer, A. de, & Lievens, F. (2009). Measurement Equivalence of Paper-and-Pencil and Internet Organisational Surveys: A Large Scale Examination in 16 Countries. *Applied Psychology*, *58*(2), 336–361. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00350.x
- Bigras, N., Lemay, L., Lehrer, J., Charron, A., Duval, S., Robert-Mazaye, C., & Laurin, E. I. (2021). Early Childhood Educators' Perceptions of Their Emotional State, Relationships with Parents, Challenges, and Opportunities During the Early Stage of the Pandemic. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 49(5), 775– 787. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01224-y
- Black, M. M., Walker, S. P., Fernald, L. C. H., Andersen, C. T., DiGirolamo, A. M., Lu, C., McCoy, D. C., Fink, G., Shawar, Y. R., Shiffman, J., Devercelli, A. E., Wodon, Q. T., Vargas-Barón, E., & Grantham-McGregor, S. (2017). Early childhood development coming of age: Science through the life course. *Lancet (London, England)*, 389(10064), 77–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31389-7

- Bliese, P. D., Edwards, J. R., & Sonnentag, S. (2017). Stress and well-being at work:
 A century of empirical trends reflecting theoretical and societal influences. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(3), 389–402. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000109
- Bloechliger, O. R., & Bauer, G. F. (2016). Demands and Job Resources in the Child Care Workforce: Swiss Lead Teacher and Assistant Teacher Assessments.
 Early Education and Development, 27(7), 1040–1059. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1154419
- Blum, S., & Dobrotić, I. (2021). Childcare-policy responses in the COVID-19 pandemic: unpacking cross-country variation. *European Societies*, 23(sup1), S545-S563. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616696.2020.1831572
- Bock-Famulla, K. (2008). Länderreport Frühkindliche Bildungssysteme 2008. https://doi.org/10.11586/2021069
- Bock-Famulla, K., Girndt, A., Vetter, T., & Kriechel, B. (2022). *Fachkräfte-Radar für KiTa und Grundschule 2022.* https://doi.org/10.11586/2022066
- Bock-Famulla, K., Münchow, A., Sander, F., Akko, D. P., & Schütz, J. (2021). Länderreport frühkindliche Bildungssysteme 2021. Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/kxp/detail.action?docID=6826195
- Bokor, G., Bellè, S. L., & Hedderich, I. (2017). Arbeitsplatz Kindertagesstätte. Zentralblatt Für Arbeitsmedizin, Arbeitsschutz Und Ergonomie, 67(2), 91–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40664-016-0159-8
- Böwing-Schmalenbrock, M., & Jurczok, A. (2012). *Multiple Imputation in der Praxis : ein sozialwissenschaftliches Anwendungsbeispiel*. Universität Potsdam. https://doi.org/58111
- Bundesanstalt f
 ür Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin. (2008). Psychische Belastung und Beanspruchung im Berufsleben: Erkennen - Gestalten (4., Aufl.). Bundesanst. f
 ür Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin.
- Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend. (2020). *Kindertagesbetreuung Kompakt. Ausbaubaustand und Bedarf 2019*. https://www.bmfsfj.de/
- Burchinal, M. R., Peisner-Feinberg, E., Bryant, D. M., & Clifford, R. (2000). Children's Social and Cognitive Development and Child-Care Quality: Testing for Differential Associations Related to Poverty, Gender, or Ethnicity. *Applied Developmental Science*, 4(3), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0403_4

- Burdorf, A., Porru, F., & Rugulies, R. (2020). The COVID-19 (Coronavirus) pandemic: Consequences for occupational health. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 46(3), 229–230. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3893
- Calvo Gallardo, E., Fernandez de Arroyabe, J. C., & Arranz, N. (2020). Preventing Internal COVID-19 Outbreaks within Businesses and Institutions: A Methodology Based on Social Networks Analysis for Supporting Occupational Health and Safety Services Decision Making. *Sustainability*, *12*(11), 4655. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12114655
- Camehl, G., & Peter, F. (2017). Je höher die Kita-Qualität, desto prosozialer das Verhalten von Kindern. *DIW-Wochenbericht*, *84*(51/52). https://doi.org/173073
- Capone, V., Borrelli, R., Marino, L., & Schettino, G. (2022). Mental Well-Being and Job Satisfaction of Hospital Physicians during COVID-19: Relationships with Efficacy Beliefs, Organizational Support, and Organizational Non-Technical Skills. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063734
- Casjens, S., Taeger, D., Brüning, T., & Behrens, T. (2022). Altered Mental Distress Among Employees From Different Occupational Groups and Industries During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 64(10), 874–880. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002595
- Cerda, A. A., & García, L. Y. (2022). Factors explaining the fear of being infected with COVID-19. Health Expectations : An International Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy, 25(2), 506–512. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13274
- Cirrincione, L., Plescia, F., Ledda, C., Rapisarda, V., Martorana, D., Moldovan, R. E., Theodoridou, K., & Cannizzaro, E. (2020). COVID-19 Pandemic: Prevention and Protection Measures to Be Adopted at the Workplace. *Sustainability*, *12*(9), 3603. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093603
- Clark, H., Cárdenas, M., Dybul, M., Kazatchkine, M., Liu, J., Miliband, D., Nordström, A., Sudan, P., Zedillo, E., Obaid, T., McCarney, R., Radin, E., Eliasz, M. K., McNab, C., Legido-Quigley, H., & Sirleaf, E. J. (2022). Transforming or tinkering: The world remains unprepared for the next pandemic threat. *Lancet* (*London, England*), 399(10340), 1995–1999. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00929-1

- Corr, L., Cook, K., LaMontagne, A. D., Waters, E., & Davis, E. (2015). Associations between Australian Early Childhood Educators' Mental Health and Working Conditions: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 40(3), 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/183693911504000310
- Crawford, A., Vaughn, K. A., Guttentag, C. L., Varghese, C., Oh, Y., & Zucker, T. A. (2021). "Doing What I can, but I got no Magic Wand:" A Snapshot of Early Childhood Educator Experiences and Efforts to Ensure Quality During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *49*(5), 829–840. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01215-z
- Creswell, J. W. (2015). A concise introduction to mixed methods research. Sage.
- Cumming, T. (2017). Early Childhood Educators' Well-Being: An Updated Review of the Literature. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *45*(5), 583–593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-016-0818-6
- Curbow, B., Spratt, K., Ungaretti, A., McDonnell, K., & Breckler, S. (2000). Development of the child care worker job stress inventory. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *15*(4), 515–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(01)00068-0
- Da Jeung, Y., Kim, C., & Chang, S. J. (2018). Emotional Labor and Burnout: A Review of the Literature. Yonsei Medical Journal, 59(2), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2018.59.2.187
- Darius, S., Hohmann, C. B., Siegel, L., & Böckelmann, I. (2022). Beurteilung psychischer Beanspruchung bei Kindergartenerzieherinnen mit unterschiedlichem Overcommitment [Assessment of Psychological Stress in Kindergarten Teachers with Varying Degrees of Overcommitment]. *Psychiatrische Praxis*, 49(2), 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1403-5421
- Darius, S., Hohmann, C. B., Siegel, L., & Böckelmann, I. (2023). Zusammenhang von Belastungsfaktoren im beruflichen Setting bei Erzieherinnen in Kindertagesstätten mit dem Burnout-Risiko. *Zentralblatt für Arbeitsmedizin, Arbeitsschutz und Ergonomie*, 73(2), 81–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40664-023-00493-1
- Deimel, D., Köhler, T., Dyba, J., Graf, N., & Firk, C. (2022). Mental health of Covid-19 risk groups during the first Covid-19 lockdown in Germany: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 1187. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13593-z
- Delamarre, L., Tannous, S., Lakbar, I., Couarraze, S., Pereira, B., Leone, M., Marhar, F., Baker, J. S., Bagheri, R., Berton, M., Rabbouch, H., Zak, M., Sikorski, T., Wasik, M., Nasir, H., Quach, B., Jiao, J., Aviles, R., Covistress, N., . . .

Dutheil, F. (2022). The Evolution of Effort-Reward Imbalance in Workers during the COVID-19 Pandemic in France-An Observational Study in More than 8000 Workers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(15). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19159113

- Demerouti, E., Glaser, J., Herbig, B., Hofmann, A., Nachreiner, F., Packebusch, L., & Seiler, K. (Eds.). (2012). Forum Arbeitsschutz. Psychische Belastung und Beanspruchung am Arbeitsplatz: Inklusive DIN EN ISO 10075-1 bis -3 (1. Auflage). Beuth Verlag GmbH.
- Deutsches Jugendinstitut. (2022). Personal und Arbeitsmarkt in Zeiten von Corona: Analysen zum Fachkräftebarometer Frühe Bildung. https://www.fachkraeftebarometer.de/fileadmin/Redaktion/Publika-

tion_FKB_Corona_2022/WiFF_FKB_Corona_2022_web.pdf

- Dhondt, S., Delano Pot, F., & O. Kraan, K. (2014). The importance of organizational level decision latitude for well-being and organizational commitment. *Team Performance Management*, 20(7/8), 307–327. https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-03-2014-0025
- Diebig, M., Gritzka, S., Dragano, N., & Angerer, P. (2021). Presentation of a participatory approach to develop preventive measures to reduce COVID-19 transmission in child care. *Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology*, *16*(1), 1– 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12995-021-00316-0
- Diefenbacher, S., Grgic, M [M.], Neuberger, F [F.], Maly-Motta, H [H.], Spensberger, F
 [F.], & Kuger, S [S.] (2022). Pedagogical practices in ECEC institutions and children's linguistic, motor, and socio-emotional needs during the COVID-19 pandemic: results from a longitudinal multi-perspective study in Germany. *Early Child Development and Care*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2022.2116431
- Dragano, N., Siegrist, J [Johannes], Nyberg, S. T., Lunau, T., Fransson, E. I., Alfredsson, L., Bjorner, J. B., Borritz, M., Burr, H., Erbel, R., Fahlén, G., Goldberg, M., Hamer, M., Heikkilä, K., Jöckel, K.-H., Knutsson, A., Madsen, I. E. H., Nielsen, M. L., Nordin, M., . . . Kivimäki, M. (2017). Effort-Reward Imbalance at Work and Incident Coronary Heart Disease: A Multicohort Study of 90,164 Individuals. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 28(4), 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.00000000000666
- Duchek, S. (2019). Organizational resilience: A capability-based conceptualization. *Business Research*, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-019-0085-7

- Eisner, G., Petereit-Haack, G., & Nienhaus, A. (2009). Berufsbedingte Infektionen bei Erzieherinnen und Erziehern in Kindergärten. Zentralblatt Für Arbeitsmedizin, Arbeitsschutz Und Ergonomie, 59(2), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03344200
- Etikan, I. (2017). Sampling and Sampling Methods. *Biometrics & Biostatistics International Journal*, *5*(6). https://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2017.05.00149
- Faulkner, M., Gerstenblatt, P., Lee, A., Vallejo, V., & Travis, D. (2016). Childcare providers: Work stress and personal well-being. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 14(3), 280–293. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X14552871
- Friedman-Krauss, A. H., Raver, C. C., Neuspiel, J. M., & Kinsel, J. (2014). Child Behavior Problems, Teacher Executive Functions, and Teacher Stress in Head Start Classrooms. *Early Education and Development*, 25(5), 681–702. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.825190
- Fritschi, T., & Oesch, T. (2008). Volkswirtschaftlicher Nutzen von frühkindlicher Bildung in Deutschland: eine ökonomische Bewertung langfristiger Bildungseffekte des Besuchs von Kindertageseinrichtungen. https://www.ssoar.info/ssoar/bitstream/handle/document/39377/ssoar-2008fritschi_et_al-Volkswirtschaftlicher_Nutzen_von_fruhkindlicher_Bildung.pdf?sequence=1
- Fröhlich-Gildhoff, K. (2022). Das Kita-System steht vor dem Kollaps: Wissenschaftlerinnen und Wissenschaftler fordern die Politik zum schnellen Handeln auf. https://www.eh-freiburg.de/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Das_Kita_System steht vor dem Kollaps-Appell der Wissenschaft-31Aug2022.pdf
- Fuchs-Rechlin, K. (2007). Wie gehts im Job? KiTa-Studie der GEW. Jugendhilfe und Sozialarbeit. https://www.gew.de/index.php?eID=dumpFile&t=f&f=20671&token=40ac0922c8f828d6e3d95bde1d951219918e3ba7&s
- Galante, J., Friedrich, C., Dawson, A. F., Modrego-Alarcón, M., Gebbing, P., Delgado-Suárez, I., Gupta, R., Dean, L., Dalgleish, T., White, I. R., & Jones, P. B. (2021). Mindfulness-based programmes for mental health promotion in adults in nonclinical settings: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *PLoS Medicine*, *18*(1), e1003481. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003481
- Gambaro, L., Spieß, C. K., & Westermaier, F. (2021). Erzieherinnen empfinden vielfache Belastungen und wenig Anerkennung. https://doi.org/10.18723/DIW_WB:2021-19-1

- Ganster, D. C., & Rosen, C. C. (2013). Work Stress and Employee Health. *Journal of Management*, 39(5), 1085–1122. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313475815
- Gershon, R. R. M., Vandelinde, N., Magda, L. A., Pearson, J. M., Werner, A., & Prezant, D. (2009). Evaluation of a pandemic preparedness training intervention of emergency medical services personnel. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, 24(6), 508–511. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1049023x00007421
- Geurts, S. A. E., & Sonnentag, S. (2006). Recovery as an explanatory mechanism in the relation between acute stress reactions and chronic health impairment. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 32(6), 482–492. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.1053
- Giorgi, G., Lecca, L. I., Alessio, F., Finstad, G. L., Bondanini, G., Lulli, L. G., Arcangeli, G., & Mucci, N. (2020). COVID-19-Related Mental Health Effects in the Workplace: A Narrative Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(21), 7857. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17217857
- Godderis, L., & Luyten, J. (2020). Challenges and opportunities for occupational health and safety after the COVID-19 lockdowns. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 77(8), 511–512. https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2020-106645
- Gomes, A. R., Faria, S., & Gonçalves, A. M. (2013). Cognitive appraisal as a mediator in the relationship between stress and burnout. *Work & Stress*, 27(4), 351–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2013.840341
- Göritz, A. S. (2010). Using lotteries, loyalty points, and other incentives to increase participant response and completion. In S. Gosling & J. A. Johnson (Eds.), *Advanced methods for conducting online behavioral research* (1. ed., pp. 219– 233). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/12076-014
- Göritz, A. S., & Luthe, S. C. (2013). Effects of Lotteries on Response Behavior in Online Panels. *Field Methods*, 25(3), 219–237. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X12472876
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: A new way to conceptualize emotional labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 5(1), 95–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grant, Habes, D. J., & Tepper, A. L. (1995). Work activities and musculoskeletal complaints among preschool workers. *Applied Ergonomics*(26(6)), 405–410.
- Grant, Jeon, L., & Buettner, C. K. (2019). Relating Early Childhood Teachers' Working Conditions and Well-Being to Their Turnover Intentions. *Educational Psychol*ogy(v39), 294–312.

- Gratz, R. R., & Claffey, A. (1996). Adult health in childcare: health status, behaviors, and concerns of teachers, directots, and family child care providers. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*(11(2)), 243–267.
- Gratz, R. R., Claffey, A., King, P., & Scheuer, G. (2002). The Physical Demands and Ergonomics of Working with Young Children. *Early Child Development and Care*, 172(6), 531–537. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430215109
- Green, J., Staff, L., Bromley, P., Jones, L., & Petty, J. (2021). The implications of face masks for babies and families during the COVID-19 pandemic: A discussion paper. *Journal of Neonatal Nursing : JNN*, 27(1), 21–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnn.2020.10.005
- Grgic, M [Mariana], Neuberger, F [Franz], Kalicki, B., Spensberger, F [Florian], Maly-Motta, H., Barbarino, B., Kuger, S [Susanne], & Rauschenbach, T. (2022). Interaktionen in Kindertageseinrichtungen während der Corona-Pandemie – Elternkooperation, Fachkraft-Kind-Interaktionen und das Zusammenspiel der Kinder im Rahmen eingeschränkter Möglichkeiten. *Diskurs Kindheits- Und Jugendforschung / Discourse. Journal of Childhood and Adolescence Research*, *17*(1), 27–56. https://doi.org/10.3224/diskurs.v17i1.03
- Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., & Diebig, M. (2023). The mediating role of fear of COVID-19 in the association between COVID-19-related work stressors and subjective well-being: Path analysis by cross-sectional evidence in the child care sector across three samples. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0000000002997
- Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Erschens, R., & Diebig, M. (2023). Der Zusammenhang von gesundheitskritischen Arbeitsbelastungen und somatischen Symptomen bei frühpädagogischen Fachkräften in der Kindertagesbetreuung während der CO-VID-19-Pandemie [The Relationship of Work Stress and Somatic Symptoms Among Early Childhood Professionals During the COVID-19 Pandemic]. *Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, medizinische Psychologie.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-2055-1738
- Gritzka, S., Angerer, P., Pietrowsky, R., & Diebig, M. (2022). The Impact of the Implementation of Preventive Measures Due to COVID-19 on Work Design and Early Childhood Professionals' Well-Being-A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031739

- Haderlein, R. (2015). BeWAK Studie 2015: Befragung zur Wertschätzung und Anerkennung von Kitaleitungen. https://www.kita-bildungsserver.de/publikationen/dokumente-zum-download/download-starten/?did=1162
- Haderlein, R. (2017). DKLK-Studie 2017. Befragung zur Wertschätzung und Anerkennung von Kita-Leitungen. https://www.fachportal-paedagogik.de/literatur/vollanzeige.html?Fld=1123010
- Hagemann, W., & Geuenich, K. (2014). *Burnout-Screening-Skalen: BOSS (2nd ed.)*. Hogrefe.
- Hall, A., & Leppelmeier, I. (2015). Erzieherinnen und Erzieher in der Erwerbstätigkeit Ihre Arbeitsbedingungen, Arbeitsbelastungen und die Folgen ; Heft-Nr. 161.
 Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung.
- Hall-Kenyon, K. M., Bullough, R. V., MacKay, K. L., & Marshall, E. E. (2014). Preschool Teacher Well-Being: A Review of the Literature. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 42(3), 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-013-0595-4
- Hamouche, S. (2020). COVID-19 and employees' mental health: stressors, moderators and agenda for organizational actions. *Emerald Open Research*, 2, 15. https://doi.org/10.35241/emeraldopenres.13550.1
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach (Second edition). Methodology in the social sciences. Guilford Press.
- Heikkinen, K. M., Fonsén, E [E.], Heikonen, L [L.], Ahtiainen, R [R.], & Tamir, E., & Strehmel, P. (2023). Stress, coping strategies and resources of early childhood education leaders during the COVID-19-pandemic in Finland, Germany and Israel. In E. Fonsén, R. Ahtiainen, K.-M. Heikkinen, L. Heikonen, P. Strehmel, & E. Tamir (Eds.), *Early Childhood Education Leadership in Times of Crisis:: International Studies During the COVID-19 Pandemic* (pp. 229–246). Verlag Barbara Budrich.
- Helfferich, C. (2010). Die Qualität qualitativer Daten: Manual für die Durchführung qualitativer Interviews (4. Aufl.). VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- Hinz, A., Ernst, J., Glaesmer, H., Brähler, E., Rauscher, F. G., Petrowski, K., & Kocalevent, R.-D. (2017). Frequency of somatic symptoms in the general population: Normative values for the Patient Health Questionnaire-15 (PHQ-15). *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 96, 27–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.12.017

- Hitzenberger, J., & Schuett, S. (2017). Problem: Kitas in der Wertschätzungskrise: "Denn sie wissen nicht, was wir tun…". In *Führungsstark in Kindertageseinrichtungen* (pp. 1–5). Springer, Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-15427-1_1
- Hur, E. (2015). Preschool Teachers' Child-Centered Beliefs: Direct and Indirect Associations with Work Climate and Job-Related Wellbeing. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 45(3), 451–465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-015-9338-6
- Hurrell, J. J., Nelson, D. L., & Simmons, B. L. (1998). Measuring job stressors and strains: Where we have been, where we are, and where we need to go. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 3(4), 368–389. https://doi.org/10.1037//1076-8998.3.4.368
- International Labour Organization. (2020). *ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work. Fifth edition: Updated estimates and analysis.* https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/docu-ments/briefingnote/wcms_749399.pdf
- Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2022). The end of the COVID-19 pandemic. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *52*(6), e13782. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.13782
- Jakobsen, J. C., Gluud, C., Wetterslev, J., & Winkel, P. (2017). When and how should multiple imputation be used for handling missing data in randomised clinical trials - a practical guide with flowcharts. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *17*(1), 162. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0442-1
- Jalongo, M. R. (2021). The Effects of COVID-19 on Early Childhood Education and Care: Research and Resources for Children, Families, Teachers, and Teacher Educators. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 49(5), 763–774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01208-y
- Jeon, L., Buettner, C. K., & Grant, A. A. (2018). Early Childhood Teachers' Psychological Well-Being: Exploring Potential Predictors of Depression, Stress, and Emotional Exhaustion. *Early Education and Development*, 29(1), 53–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2017.1341806
- Johnson, J. V., & Hall, E. M. (1988). Job strain, work place social support, and cardiovascular disease: A cross-sectional study of a random sample of the Swedish working population. *American Journal of Public Health*, 78(10), 1336–1342. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.78.10.1336
- Johnson, J. V., Hall, E. M., & Theorell, T [T.] (1989). Combined effects of job strain and social isolation on cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality in a random

sample of the Swedish male working population. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, *15*(4), 271–279. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.1852

- Joiko, K., Schmauder, M., & Wolff, G. (2010). *Psychische Belastung und Beanspruchung im Berufsleben: Erkennen - gestalten* (5. Aufl.). BAuA.
- Jonge, J. de [J.], Bosma, H [H.], Peter, R [R.], & Siegrist, J [J.] (2000). Job strain, effort-reward imbalance and employee well-being: A large-scale cross-sectional study. *Social Science & Medicine*, *50*(9), 1317–1327. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00388-3
- Jungbauer, J., & Ehlen, S. (2015). Stressbelastungen und Burnout-Risiko bei Erzieherinnen in Kindertagesstätten: Ergebnisse einer Fragebogenstudie [Stress and Burnout Risk in Nursery School Teachers: Results from a Survey]. Gesundheitswesen (Bundesverband der Arzte des Offentlichen Gesundheitsdienstes (Germany)), 77(6), 418–423. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1381995
- Kalluri, N., Kelly, C., & Garg, A. (2021). Child Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A
 Bad Situation Made Worse. *Pediatrics*, 147(3).
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-041525
- Kaluza, G. (2012). Gelassen und sicher im Stress: Das Stresskompetenz-Buch ; Stress erkennen, verstehen, bewältigen ; mit 8 Tabellen (4., überarb. Aufl.). Springer.
- Karasek, R. A. (1979). Job Demands, Job Decision Latitude, and Mental Strain: Implications for Job Redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24(2), 285. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392498
- Kaushik, M., & Guleria, N. (2020). The impact of pandemic COVID-19 in workplace. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *12*(15), 1–10.
- Kisely, S., Warren, N., McMahon, L., Dalais, C., Henry, I., & Siskind, D. (2020). Occurrence, prevention, and management of the psychological effects of emerging virus outbreaks on healthcare workers: Rapid review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed.*), 369, m1642. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1642
- Klusemann, S., Rosenkranz, L., Schütz, J., & Bertelsmann Stiftung. (2020). *Professionelles Handeln im System.* https://doi.org/10.11586/2020040
- Kocalevent, R.-D. (2013). Standardization of a screening instrument (PHQ-15) for somatization syndromes in the general population. *BMC Psychiatry*, *13*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-13-91
- Koch, P., Kersten, J. F., Stranzinger, J., & Nienhaus, A. (2017). The effect of effortreward imbalance on the health of childcare workers in Hamburg: A longitudinal

study. *Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology (London, England)*, *12*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12995-017-0163-8

- Koch, P., Stranzinger, J., Nienhaus, A., & Kozak, A. (2015). Musculoskeletal Symptoms and Risk of Burnout in Child Care Workers - A Cross-Sectional Study. *PloS One*, *10*(10), e0140980. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140980
- König, A., Kratz, J., Stadler, K., & Uihlein, C. (2018). Aktuelle Entwicklungen in der Ausbildung von Erzieherinnen und Erziehern an Fachschulen für Sozialpädagogik: Organisationsformen, Zulassungsvoraussetzungen und Curricula - eine Dokumentenanalyse : eine Studie der Weiterbildungsinitiative Frühpädagogische Fachkräfte (WiFF). WiFF Studie: Band 29. Ausbildung. Deutsches Jugendinstitut e.V.
- Kratzmann, J., Lehrl, S., & Ebert, S. (2013). Einstellungen zum Einbezug der Erstsprache im Kindergarten und deren Bedeutung für die Wortschatzentwicklung im Deutschen bei Kindern mit Migrationshintergrund. *Frühe Bildung*, 2(3), 133– 143. https://doi.org/10.1026/2191-9186/a000100
- Kratzmann, J., & Schneider, T. (2009). Social Inequality, Child Care Attendance, and School Start in Germany. *Schmollers Jahrbuch*, *129*(2), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.3790/schm.129.2.181
- Kuckartz, U. (2014). *Mixed methods: methodologie, Forschungsdesigns und Analyseverfahren*. Springer-Verlag.
- Kuehner, C [C.] (2003). Gender differences in unipolar depression: An update of epidemiological findings and possible explanations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *108*(3), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0447.2003.00204.x
- Kuehner, C [Christine], Schultz, K., Gass, P., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., & Dreßing, H. (2020). Psychisches Befinden in der Bevölkerung während der COVID-19-Pandemie [Mental Health Status in the Community During the COVID-19-Pandemic]. *Psychiatrische Praxis*, 47(7), 361–369. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1222-9067
- Kühne, S., & Kroh, M. (2018). Personalized Feedback in Web Surveys. *Social Science Computer Review*, *36*(6), 744–755. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439316673604
- Kusma, B., Groneberg, D. A., Nienhaus, A., & Mache, S. (2012). Determinants of day care teachers' job satisfaction. *Central European Journal of Public Health*, 20(3), 191–198. https://doi.org/10.21101/cejph.a3700
- Kusma, B., Mache, S., Quarcoo, D., Nienhaus, A., & Groneberg, D. A. (2011). Educators' working conditions in a day care centre on ownership of a non-profit

organization. *Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology (London, Eng-land)*, 6, 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6673-6-36

- Kyriacou, C. (2001). Teacher Stress: directions for future research. *Educational Review*, *53*(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131910124115
- The Lancet (2020). The plight of essential workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet (London, England), 395(10237), 1587. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31200-9
- Landesregierung NRW. (2020a). *#ichhelfemit: Land fördert Kita-Helfer zur Entlastung der Erzieherinnen und Erzieher in der Corona-Pandemie.* https://www.land.nrw/pressemitteilung/ichhelfemit-land-foerdert-kita-helfer-zurentlastung-der-erzieherinnen-und-erzieher
- Landesregierung NRW. (2020b). Öffnung der Kindertagesbetreuung im eingeschränkten Regelbetrieb. https://www.land.nrw/pressemitteilung/oeffnung-der-kindertagesbetreuung-im-eingeschraenkten-regelbetrieb
- Landesregierung NRW. (2020c). *Regelbetrieb der Kindertagesbetreuung in der Pandemie*. https://www.land.nrw/pressemitteilung/regelbetrieb-der-kindertagesbetreuung-der-pandemie
- Lang, S. N., Jeon, L., Sproat, E. B., Brothers, B. E., & Buettner, C. K. (2020). Social Emotional Learning for Teachers (SELF-T): A Short-term, Online Intervention to Increase Early Childhood Educators' Resilience. *Early Education and Development*, *31*(7), 1112–1132. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1749820
- Larsman, P., Pousette, A., & Hanse, J. J. (2008). Psychological and mechanical workload and musculoskeletal symptoms among female child-care workers. *Occupational Ergonomics*, 7(4), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.3233/OER-2007-7405
- Lee, A., Kim, H., Faulkner, M., Gerstenblatt, P., & Travis, D. J. (2019). Work Engagement Among Child-Care Providers: An Application of the Job Demands–Resources Model. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 48(1), 77–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-018-9473-y
- Linnan, L., Arandia, G., Bateman, L. A., Vaughn, A., Smith, N., & Ward, D. (2017). The Health and Working Conditions of Women Employed in Child Care. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(3), 283. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14030283
- Liu, P., & Li, Z. (2012). Task complexity: A review and conceptualization framework. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, *42*(6), 553–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ergon.2012.09.001

- Lo Moro, G., Sinigaglia, T., Bert, F., Savatteri, A., Gualano, M. R., & Siliquini, R. (2020). Reopening Schools during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Overview and Rapid Systematic Review of Guidelines and Recommendations on Preventive Measures and the Management of Cases. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(23). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17238839
- Lordan, R., FitzGerald, G. A., & Grosser, T. (2020). Reopening schools during COVID-19. Science (New York, N.Y.), 369(6508), 1146. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abe5765
- Lorente, L., Vera, M., & Peiró, T. (2021). Nurses' stressors and psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic: The mediating role of coping and resilience. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 77(3), 1335–1344. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14695
- Losch, D. (2015). Subjektive Beurteilung des Lärms in Kindertagesstätten durch die MitarbeiterInnen. Zentralblatt für Arbeitsmedizin, Arbeitsschutz und Ergonomie, 66(2), 84–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40664-015-0057-5
- Losch, D. (2018). Gesundheit am Arbeitsplatz Kindertagesstätte. *Arbeitsmed Sozialmed Umweltmed*(53(3)), 193–196.
- Losch, D., & Schulze, J. (2016). Stressfaktoren in Kindertagesstätten. *Zentralblatt für Arbeitsmedizin, Arbeitsschutz und Ergonomie*, 66(3), 147–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40664-015-0070-8
- Løvgren, M. (2016). Emotional exhaustion in day-care workers. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 24(1), 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2015.1120525
- Lübke, N., Schupp, A.-K., Bredahl, R., Kraus, U., Hauka, S., Andrée, M., Ehlkes, L., Klein, T., Graupner, A., Horn, J., Brinks, R., Göbels, K., Adams, O., & Timm, J. (2021). Screening for SARS-CoV-2 infections in daycare facilities for children in a large city in Germany. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.26.21252510
- Lübker, M., & Herrberg, H. (2022). Was verdienen Erzieher/innen? Eine Analyse auf Basis der WSI-Lohnspiegel-Datenbank. Düsseldorf. Lohnspiegel.de-Arbeitspapier Nr. 44. https://www.wsi.de/fpdf/HBS-008357/ap_lohnspiegel_erzieher_innen.pdf
- Malesza, M., & Kaczmarek, M. C. (2021). Predictors of anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic in Poland. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *170*, 110419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110419

- May, C. (2013). Towards a general theory of implementation. *Implementation Science*, *8*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-18
- Mayring, P. (2010). *Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Grundlagen und Techniken* (11. Neuausgabe). Beltz.
- McKee, H., Gohar, B., Appleby, R., Nowrouzi-Kia, B., Hagen, B. N. M., & Jones-Bitton, A. (2021). High Psychosocial Work Demands, Decreased Well-Being, and Perceived Well-Being Needs Within Veterinary Academia During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8, 746716. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.746716
- McMullen, M. B., Lee, M. S. C., McCormick, K. I., & Choi, J. (2020). Early Childhood Professional Well-Being as a Predictor of the Risk of Turnover in Child Care: A Matter of Quality. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *34*(3), 331–345. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2019.1705446
- Meyer, N., & Alsago, E. (2021). Alltag pädagogischer Fachkräfte in Kindertageseinrichtungen: Den eigenen professionellen Ansprüchen nicht genügen können. https://sozialearbeit.verdi.de/++file++617be2ac1738c56d22cfc5c3/download/2021_Kita-Personalcheck_Ergebnisse_verdi.pdf
- MKFFI. (2020a). *Ab Montag Betretungsverbot in Einrichtungen der Kindestagesbetreuung*. https://www.mkjfgfi.nrw/pressemitteilung/ab-montag-betretungsverbot-einrichtungen-der-kindestagesbetreuung
- MKFFI. (2020b). Aktuelle Entwicklungen des Infektionsgeschehens und Auswirkungen auf die Kindertagesbetreuung. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/20201106%20Offizielle%20Information%20Land%20NRW%20Aktuelle%20Entwicklungen.pdf
- MKFFI. (2020c). Aktuelle Entwicklungen des Infektionsgeschehens und Auswirkungen auf die Kindertagesbetreuung. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/20201106%20Offizielle%20Informa-

tion%20Land%20NRW%20Aktuelle%20Entwicklungen.pdf

- MKFFI. (2020d). Aktuelle Entwicklungen des Infektionsgeschehens und Auswirkungen auf die Kindertagesbetreuung. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/20201106%20Offizielle%20Information%20Land%20NRW%20Aktuelle%20Entwicklungen.pdf
- MKFFI. (2020e). Empfehlungen für die Kindertagesbetreuung im Regelbetrieb in Zeiten der Pandemie.

https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/20200728_empfehlungen_kindertagesbetreuung_im_regelbetrieb%20%284%29.pdf

- MKFFI. (2020f). *Kindertageseinrichtungen im Pandemiebetrieb*. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/20201207_Kindertageseinrichtungen%20im%20Pandemiebetrieb.pdf
- MKFFI. (2020g). Neuregelung zur Betreuung von Kindern von Personen, die in kritischer Infrastruktur t\u00e4tig sind, und zur Betreuung am Wochenende. https://www.mkjfgfi.nrw/neuregelung-zur-betreuung-von-kindern-von-personen-die-kritischer-infrastruktur-taetig-sind-und-zur
- MKFFI. (2021a). Impfangebot ab dem 8. März 2021. https://www.kita.nrw.de/sites/default/files/documents/2021-03/20210304_informationsschreiben impfen.pdf

MKFFI. (2021b). *Kindertagesbetreuung ab dem 11.01.2021*. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/20210107_Offizielle_Information%20eingeschra%CC%88nkter%20Pandemiebetrieb.pdf

- MKFFI. (2021c). *Ministerschreiben an Beschäftigte.* MKFFI. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/2021-03-26%20Ministerschreiben%20an%20Bescha%CC%88ftigte.pdf
- MKFFI. (2021d). *Planung für die Kindertagesbetreuung*. https://www.kita.nrw.de/system/files/media/document/file/Planung%20f%C3%BCr%20die%20Kindertagesbetreuung%20-%20final.pdf
- MKFFI. (2021e). Regelbetrieb ab dem 7. Juni 2021. https://www.kita.nrw.de/sites/default/files/documents/2021-05/20210526_offizielle_information_betrieb_ab_7._juni_2021.pdf
- MKFFI. (2021f). Umsetzung der Bundesnotbremse in Nordrhein-Westfalen. https://www.kita.nrw.de/sites/default/files/documents/2021-04/offizielle_information_bundesnotbremse_220402021.pdf
- Montano, D., Hoven, H., & Siegrist, J [Johannes] (2014). Effects of organisational-level interventions at work on employees' health: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 135. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-135
- Murray, J. (2020). In a Time of COVID-19 and Beyond, the World needs Early Childhood Educators. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 28(4), 299– 302. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2020.1839830
- Nachreiner, F., & Schütte, M. (2018). Revidierte Fassung der DIN EN ISO 10075-1 erschienen. Zeitschrift Für Arbeits- Und Organisationspsychologie A&O, 62(3), 166. https://doi.org/10.1026/0932-4089/a000276
- Nagel-Prinz, S. M., & Paulus, P. (2012). Wie geht es Kita-Leitungen? Prävention Und Gesundheitsförderung, 7(2), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11553-012-0335-4
- Neuberger, F [Franz], Grgic, M [Mariana], Buchholz, U., Maly-Motta, H. L., Fackler, S., Lehfeld, A.-S., Haas, W., Kalicki, B., & Kuger, S [Susanne] (2022). Delta and Omicron: Protective measures and SARS-CoV-2 infections in day care centres in Germany in the 4th and 5th wave of the pandemic 2021/2022. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 2106. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14521-x
- Neuberger, F [Franz], Grgic, M [Mariana], & Fackler, S. (2023). Interaction Quality Among Children, Staff and Parents in German ECEC Centres in the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Early Childhood Education Journal*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-023-01536-1
- Neuner, R. (2016). *Psychische Gesundheit bei der Arbeit*. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-10617-1
- Niedhammer, I., Bertrais, S., & Witt, K. (2021). Psychosocial work exposures and health outcomes: A meta-review of 72 literature reviews with meta-analysis. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 47(7), 489–508. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3968
- Nienhaus, A., & Schneider, S. (2022). COVID-19 als Berufskrankheit und Arbeitsunfall

 Analyse der gemeldeten und anerkannten Fälle der Deutschen Gesetzlichen
 Unfallversicherung. ASU Arbeitsmedizin Sozialmedizin Umweltmedizin,
 2022(03), 170–176. https://doi.org/10.17147/asu-1-174372
- Nislin, M., Sajaniemi, N. K., Sims, M [Margaret], Suhonen, E [Eira], Maldonado Montero, E. F., Hirvonen, A., & Hyttinen, S. (2016). Pedagogical work, stress regulation and work-related well-being among early childhood professionals in integrated special day-care groups. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 31(1), 27–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2015.1087127
- Nislin, M., Sajaniemi, N., Suhonen, E [E.], Sims, M [M.], Hotulainen, R., & Hyttinen, S. & H. (2015). Work Demands and Resources, Stress Regulation and Quality of Pedagogical Work Among Professionals in Finnish Early Childhood Education Settings. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*(1), Article 4, 42–66.

- Nixon, A. E., Mazzola, J. J., Bauer, J., Krueger, J. R., & Spector, P. E. (2011). Can work make you sick? A meta-analysis of the relationships between job stressors and physical symptoms. *Work & Stress*, 25(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2011.569175
- Noble, K., & Macfarlane, K. (2005). Romance or Reality? Examining Burnout in early Childhood Teachers. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *30*(3), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/183693910503000309
- Nsabimana, F. X., & Rennies-Hochmuth, J. (2016). *Subjektive Wahrnehmung und Monitoring von Lärm in Kindergärten.* Fraunhofer IDMT, Hör-, Slrach- und Audiotechnologie. https://pub.dega-akustik.de/DAGA_2016/data/articles/000445.pdf
- Nuebling, M., Seidler, A., Garthus-Niegel, S., Latza, U., Wagner, M., Hegewald, J., Liebers, F., Jankowiak, S., Zwiener, I., Wild, P. S., & Letzel, S. (2013). The Gutenberg Health Study: Measuring psychosocial factors at work and predicting health and work-related outcomes with the ERI and the COPSOQ questionnaire. *BMC Public Health*, *13*, 538. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-538
- OECD. (2020). OECD Employment Outlook 2020: Worker Security and the COVID-19 Crisis. https://doi.org/10.1787/1686c758-en
- Oppenheim, B., Gallivan, M., Madhav, N. K., Brown, N., Serhiyenko, V., Wolfe, N. D., & Ayscue, P. (2019). Assessing global preparedness for the next pandemic: Development and application of an Epidemic Preparedness Index. *BMJ Global Health*, *4*(1), e001157. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-001157
- Otten, J. J., Bradford, V. A., Stover, B., Hill, H. D., Osborne, C., Getts, K., & Seixas, N. (2019). The Culture Of Health In Early Care And Education: Workers' Wages, Health, And Job Characteristics. *Health Affairs (Project Hope)*, 38(5), 709–720. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05493#:~:text=https%3A//doi.org/10.1377/ hlthaff.2018.05493
- Paul-Ehrlich-Institut. (2021). Das Paul-Ehr-lich-In-sti-tut in-for-miert Vor-über-ge-hen-de Aus-set-zung der Imp-fung mit dem CO-VID-19-Impf-stoff Astra-Zene-ca. https://www.pei.de/DE/newsroom/hp-meldungen/2021/210315voruebergehende-aussetzung-impfung-covid-19-impfstoff-astra-zeneca.html
- Qi, X., Zhang, J., Liu, Y., Ji, S., Chen, Z., Sluiter, J. K., & Deng, H. (2014). Relationship between effort-reward imbalance and hair cortisol concentration in female kindergarten teachers. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 76(4), 329–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.01.008

- Quinn, E. L., Stover, B., Otten, J. J., & Seixas, N. (2022). Early Care and Education
 Workers' Experience and Stress during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(5).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052670
- Rendle, K. A., Abramson, C. M., Garrett, S. B., Halley, M. C., & Dohan, D. (2019). Beyond exploratory: a tailored framework for designing and assessing qualitative health research. *BMJ Open*, 9(8), e030123.
- Riccaboni, M., & Verginer, L. (2022). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on scientific research in the life sciences. *PloS One*, *17*(2), e0263001. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263001
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., McNaughton Nicholls, C., & Ormston, R. (Eds.). (2018). Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers (Second edition). Sage.
- Robert Koch Institut. (2020a). *Corona-KiTa-Studie*. https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/Projekte_RKI/KiTaStudie.html
- Robert Koch Institut. (2020b). *Quartalsbericht der Corona-KiTa-Studie: 3. Quartalsbericht (I/2022)*. https://www.dji.de/ueber-uns/projekte/projekte/corona-kita-studie.html
- Robert Koch Institut. (2021a). Quartalsbericht der Corona-KiTa-Studie: 1. Quartalsbericht (I/2020). https://www.dji.de/ueber-uns/projekte/projekte/corona-kita-studie.html
- Robert Koch Institut. (2021b). Stellungnahme der Ständigen Impfkommission zur CO-VID-19-Impfung mit der AstraZeneca-Vaccine (19.3.2021). https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/Kommissionen/STIKO/Empfehlungen/Astra-Zeneca-Impfstoff-2021-03-19.html
- Robert Koch Institut, & Deutsches Jugendinstitut. (2020a). *Monatsbericht der Corona-KiTa-Studie: Ausgabe 01/2020 Mai 2020*. https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/Projekte_RKI/KiTa-Studie-Berichte/KiTAStudie_05_2020.pdf?__blob=publicationFile
- Robert Koch Institut, & Deutsches Jugendinstitut. (2020b). *Monatsbericht der Corona-KiTa-Studie: Ausgabe 02/2020 Juli 2020*. https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/Projekte_RKI/KiTa-Studie-Berichte/KiTAStudie_07_2020.pdf?__blob=publicationFile
- Robert Koch Institut, & Deutsches Jugendinstitut. (2020c). Monatsbericht der Corona-KiTa-Studie:Ausgabe02/2020Juni2020.

https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/Projekte_RKI/KiTa-Studie-Berichte/KiTAStudie_05_2020.pdf?__blob=publication-File

- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in Interview-Based Qualitative Research: A Theoretical and Practical Guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rohmert, W., & Rutenfranz, J. (1975). Arbeitswissenschaftliche Beurteilung der Belastung und Beanspruchung an unterschiedlichen industriellen Arbeitsplätzen. Bonn : Bundesminister für Arbeit und Sozialordnung, Referat Öffentlichkeitsarbeit.
- Roßbach, B., Löffler K. I., Mayer-Popken, O., Konietzko, J., & Dupius, H. Belastungsund Beanspruchungskonzept. In (Original work published 2021)
- Rudow, B. (2004). Arbeitsbedingungen für Erzieher/Innen: Hohe psychische Belastungen. http://www.gesundearbeit.info/uploads/docs/24.pdf
- Rudow, B. (2017). Beruf Erzieherin/Erzieher mehr als Spielen und Basteln: Arbeitsund organisationspsychologische Aspekte : ein Fach- und Lehrbuch. Waxmann.
- Sands, P., Mundaca-Shah, C., & Dzau, V. J. (2016). The Neglected Dimension of Global Security--A Framework for Countering Infectious-Disease Crises. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(13), 1281–1287. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsr1600236
- Sasaki, N., Kuroda, R., Tsuno, K., & Kawakami, N. (2020). Workplace responses to COVID-19 associated with mental health and work performance of employees in Japan. *Journal of Occupational Health*, 62(1), e12134. https://doi.org/10.1002/1348-9585.12134
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8.
- Schaack, D. D., Le, V.-N., & Stedron, J. (2020). When Fulfillment is Not Enough: Early Childhood Teacher Occupational Burnout and Turnover Intentions from a Job Demands and Resources Perspective. *Early Education and Development*, *31*(7), 1011–1030. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1791648

- Schad, M. (2002). Erziehung (k)ein Kinderspiel: Gefährdungen und Belastungen des pädagogischen Personals in Kindertagesstätten. Schriftenreihe der Unfallkasse Hessen: Bd. 7. Universum-Verl.-Anst. https://permalink.obvsg.at/AC03580140
- Schaper, N. (2019). Wirkungen der Arbeit. In F. W. Nerdinger, G. Blickle, N. Schaper,
 & M. Solga (Eds.), Springer-Lehrbuch. Arbeits- und Organisationspsychologie (4. Aufl. 2019, pp. 573–598). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Schilling, J., Buda, S., & Tolksdorf, K. (2022). Zweite Aktualisierung der "Retrospektiven Phaseneinteilung der COVID-19- Pandemie in Deutschland". https://doi.org/10.25646/9787
- Schneiders, K., & Schönauer, A.-L. (2022). Fachkräftemangel in der Sozialwirtschaft: Empirische Befunde zu Ursachen und Handlungsbedarfen. In C. Gehrlach, M. von Bergen, & K. Eiler (Eds.), *Perspektiven Sozialwirtschaft und Sozialmanagement. Zwischen gesellschaftlichem Auftrag und Wettbewerb* (pp. 355–370).
 Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-35381-0_21
- Schreyer, I., & Krause, M. (2016). Pedagogical staff in children's day care centres in Germany – links between working conditions, job satisfaction, commitment and work-related stress. *Early Years*, 36(2), 132–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2015.1115390
- Schupp, J., & Wolf, C. (2015). Nonresponse Bias: Qualitätssicherung sozialwissenschaftlicher Umfragen. Schriftenreihe der ASI - Arbeitsgemeinschaft Sozialwissenschaftlicher Institute. Springer VS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-10459-7
- Seibt, R., Khan, A., Thinschmidt, M [M.], Dutschke, D., & Weidhaas, J. (2005). Gesundheitsförderung und Arbeitsfähigkeit in Kindertagesstätten: Einfluss gesundheitsförderlicher Maßnahmen auf die Arbeitsfähigkeit von Beschäftigten in Kindertagesstätten und Beiträge zur Netzwerkbildung ; [Abschlussbericht zum Projekt "Netzwerk für gesunde Beschäftigte in Kindertagesstätten" - INQA-Projekt F 44-03. Schriftenreihe der Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin Forschung: Vol. 1049. Wirtschaftsverl. NW Verl. für Neue Wiss. http://www.socialnet.de/rezensionen/isbn.php?isbn=978-3-86509-371-4
- Semmer, N. K., Jacobshagen, N., Meier, L. L., Elfering, A., Beehr, T. A., Kälin, W., & Tschan, F. (2015). Illegitimate tasks as a source of work stress. *Work & Stress*, 29(1), 32–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2014.1003996

- Sheikh, A [Aziz], Sheikh, A [Asiyah], Sheikh, Z., & Dhami, S. (2020). Reopening schools after the COVID-19 lockdown. *Journal of Global Health*, *10*(1), 10376. https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.10.010376
- Shen, F., Min, C., Lu, Y., & Chu, Y. (2021). The effect of cognition and affect on preventive behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study in China. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 722. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10784-y.
- Shkembi, A., Le, A. B., & Neitzel, R. L. (2023). Associations between Poorer Mental Health with Work-Related Effort, Reward, and Overcommitment among a Sample of Formal US Solid Waste Workers during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Safety and Health at Work, 14(1), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2023.01.004
- Shropshire, K. O., Hawdon, J. E., & Witte, J. C. (2009). Web Survey Design. *Sociological Methods* & *Research*, 37(3), 344–370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124108327130
- Siegrist, J [Johannes], Starke, D., Chandola, T., Godin, I., Marmot, M., Niedhammer, I., & Peter, R [Richard] (2004). The measurement of effort-reward imbalance at work: European comparisons. *Social Science & Medicine*, *58*(8), 1483–1499. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00351-4
- Sim, M. R. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic: Major risks to healthcare and other workers on the front line. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 77(5), 281– 282. https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2020-106567
- Sinn-Behrendet, A., Bopp, V., Sica, L., Bruder, R., Ellegast, R., & Burdford, E. M. (2014). Interventionskonzept zur Reduzierung der physischen Belastung am Arbeitsplatz "Kindertagesstätte". https://www.dguv.de/medien/ifa/de/pub/grl/pdf/2014_053.pdf
- Sinzig, J., & Schmidt, M. H. (2007). Verhaltensstörungen im Kindergartenalter. Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde, 155(10), 915–920. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00112-007-1603-9
- Smith, P. M., Oudyk, J., Potter, G., & Mustard, C. (2021). Labour Market Attachment, Workplace Infection Control Procedures and Mental Health: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Canadian Non-healthcare Workers during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Annals of Work Exposures and Health*, 65(3), 266–276. https://doi.org/10.1093/annweh/wxaa119

- Sonnentag, S., Binnewies, C., & Mojza, E. J. (2008). Did You Have A Nice Evening? : A Day-Level Study on Recovery Experiences, Sleep, and Affect. Bibliothek der Universität Konstanz. https://doi.org/56500
- Sonnentag, S., & Fritz, C. (2015). Recovery from job stress: The stressor-detachment model as an integrative framework. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 36(S1), S72-S103. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1924
- Sonnentag, S., Venz, L., & Casper, A. (2017). Advances in recovery research: What have we learned? What should be done next? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(3), 365–380. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000079
- Stansfeld, S., & Candy, B. (2006). Psychosocial work environment and mental health--a meta-analytic review. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 32(6), 443–462. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.1050
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2020). Statistiken der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe: Kinder und tätige Personen in Tageseinrichtungen und in öffentlich geförderter Kindertagespflege am 01.03.2020.
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2021). *Pressemitteilung Nr. 449 vom 23. September 2021*. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2021/09/PD21_449_225.html
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2022a). Anzahl des männlichen pädagogischen, Leitungsund Verwaltungspersonals in der Kinderbetreuung im Zeitraum von 2009 bis 2021. https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1011435/umfrage/maennliche-fachkraefte-in-der-kinderbetreuung-in-deutschland/
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2022b). Anzahl des Pädagogisches, Leitungs- und Verwaltungspersonals in Einrichtungen der Kindertagesbetreuung in den Jahren von 2009 bis 2022. https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1011406/umfrage/fachkraefte-in-der-kinderbetreuung-in-deutschland/

Stebbins, R. A. (2001). Exploratory research in the social sciences (Vol. 48). Sage.

- Stein, M., Schümann, M., Teetzen, F., Gregersen, S., Begemann, V., & Vincent-Höper, S. (2021). Supportive leadership training effects on employee social and hedonic well-being: A cluster randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 26(6), 599–612. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000300
- Sturges, J. E., & Hanrahan, K. J. (2004). Comparing Telephone and Face-to-Face Qualitative Interviewing: a Research Note. *Qualitative Research*, 4(1), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794104041110

- Sundaram, N., Bonell, C [Chris], Ladhani, S., Langan, S. M., Baawuah, F., Okike, I., Ahmad, S., Beckmann, J., Garstang, J., Brent, B. E., Brent, A. J., Amin-Chowdhury, Z., Aiano, F., & Hargreaves, J. (2021). Implementation of preventive measures to prevent COVID-19: A national study of English primary schools in summer 2020. *Health Education Research*, 36(3), 272–285. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyab016
- Thinschmidt, M [Marleen] (Ed.). (2009). Psychische Belastungen: Handbuch f
 ür Kita-Tr
 äger und Kita-Leitungen ; Arbeits- und Gesundheitsschutz sowie Gesundheitsf
 örderung von Erzieherinnen und Erziehern in Kindertageseinrichtungen. Zentraler Brosch
 ürenversand der S
 ächsischen Staatsregierung.
- Thinschmidt, M [Marleen] (2010). Belastungen am Arbeitsplatz Kindertagesstätte– Übersicht zu zentralen Ergebnissen aus vorliegenden Studien. *Gewerkschaft Erziehung Und Wissenschaft (Hrsg.), Ratgeber. Betriebliche Gesundheitsförderung Im Sozial-Und Erziehungsdienst*, 17–26.
- Thinschmidt, M [Marleen], Gruhne, B., & Hoesl, S. (2008). Forschungsbericht zur beruflichen und gesundheitlichen Situation von Kita-Personal in Sachsen: Ein Vergleich des Landkreises Torgau-Oschatz mit der Stadt Zwickau. https://www.kita-bildungsserver.de/publikationen/dokumente-zum-download/download-starten/?did=443
- Topp, C. W., Østergaard, S. D., Søndergaard, S., & Bech, P. (2015). The WHO-5 Well-Being Index: a systematic review of the literature. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 84(3), 167–176.
- van Quaquebeke, N., Salem, M., van Dijke, M., & Wenzel, R. (2022). Conducting organizational survey and experimental research online: From convenient to ambitious in study designs, recruiting, and data quality. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 12(3), 268–305. https://doi.org/10.1177/20413866221097571
- van Vegchel, N., Jonge, J. de [Jan], Bosma, H [Hans], & Schaufeli, W. (2005). Reviewing the effort-reward imbalance model: Drawing up the balance of 45 empirical studies. *Social Science & Medicine*, 60(5), 1117–1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.06.043
- ver.di. (2020). ver.di kritisiert Corona-KiTa-Studie. https://mehr-brauchtmehr.verdi.de/++co++d3e1d59e-e12b-11ea-b044-525400940f89
- VERBI Software. Consult. (1989 2023). *MAXQDA* [Computer software]. Sozialforschung GmbH. Berlin, Germany.

- Viernickel, S., Nentwig-Gesemann, I., Nicolai, K., Schwarz, S., & Zenker, L. (2013). Schlüssel zu guter Bildung, Erziehung und Betreuung: Bildungsaufgaben, Zeitkontingente und strukturelle Rahmenbedingungen in Kindertageseinrichtungen (1. Aufl.). Forschungsbericht. Der Paritätische Gesamtverb; Diakonie; GEW.
- Viernickel, S., Voss, A., & Mauz, E [Elvira]. (2017). *Arbeitsplatz Kita: Belastungen erkennen, Gesundheit fördern. Mit Online-Materialien* (1. Auflage). Beltz Juventa.
- Viernickel, S., Voss, A., Mauz, E [E.], & Gerstenberg, F., Schumann, M. (2013). STEGE - Strukturqualität und Erzieher_innengesundheit in Kindertageseinrichtungen. https://www.unfallkasse-nrw.de/fileadmin/server/download/PDF_2013/studie_stege.pdf
- Viernickel, S., Voss, A., Mauz, E [E.], & Schumann, M. (2014). Prävention in NRW: Gesundheit am Arbeitsplatz Kita Ressourcen stärken, Belastungen mindern. https://www.unfallkasse-nrw.de/fileadmin/server/download/praevention in nrw/praevention nrw 55.pdf
- Viernickel, S., & Weßels, H. (2020). Ressourcen und Belastungen frühpädagogischer Fachkräfte. *Frühe Bildung*, 9(2), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1026/2191-9186/a000472
- Viner, R. M., Bonell, C [Christopher], Drake, L., Jourdan, D., Davies, N., Baltag, V., Jerrim, J., Proimos, J., & Darzi, A. (2021). Reopening schools during the COVID-19 pandemic: Governments must balance the uncertainty and risks of reopening schools against the clear harms associated with prolonged closure. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 106(2), 111–113. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2020-319963
- Warning, A. (2020). *Rekrutierungssituation im Beruf der Erzieherin/des Erziehers: Engpässe werden immer stärker sichtbar.* Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung. https://doku.iab.de/kurzber/2020/kb0220.pdf
- Whitaker, R. C., Becker, B. D., Herman, A. N., & Gooze, R. A. (2013). The Physical and Mental Health of Head Start Staff: The Pennsylvania Head Start Staff Wellness Survey, 2012 (Vol. 10). https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/21033
- Whitaker, R. C., Dearth-Wesley, T., & Gooze, R. A. (2015). Workplace stress and the quality of teacher–children relationships in Head Start. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 30, 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.08.008
- Winship, C., & Mare, R. D. (1992). Models for Sample Selection Bias. *Annual Review* of Sociology, 18(1), 327–350. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.so.18.080192.001551

- World Health Organization. (2020a). COVID 19 COVID-19, Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC): Global research and innovation forum: towards a research roadmap. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/global-research-and-innovation-forum-towards-a-researchroadmap.pdf?sfvrsn=a7fdb05b_1&download=true
- World Health Organization. (2020b). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020 [Press release]. https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-sopening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020
- World Health Organization. (2023a). Statement on the fifteenth meeting of the IHR (2005) Emergency Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic. https://www.who.int/news/item/05-05-2023-statement-on-the-fifteenth-meeting-of-the-international-health-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regard-ing-the-coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-pandemic
- World Health Organization. (2023b). WHO launches new initiative to improve pandemic preparedness. https://www.who.int/news/item/26-04-2023-wholaunches-new-initiative-to-improve-pandemic-preparedness
- Yamoah, O., Balser, S., Ogland-Hand, C., Doernberg, E., Lewis-Miller, C., & Freedman, D. A. (2023). "A win-win for all of us": Covid-19 sheds light on the essentialness of child care as key infrastructure. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 63, 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2022.12.001
- Yıldırım, M., & Arslan, G. (2020). Exploring the associations between resilience, dispositional hope, preventive behaviours, subjective well-being, and psychological health among adults during early stage of COVID-19. *Current Psychology*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-01177-2
- Yıldırım, M., Arslan, G., & Özaslan, A. (2022). Perceived Risk and Mental Health Problems among Healthcare Professionals during COVID-19 Pandemic: Exploring the Mediating Effects of Resilience and Coronavirus Fear. *International Journal* of Mental Health and Addiction, 20(2), 1035–1045. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00424-8
- Zhang, M. (2021). Estimation of differential occupational risk of COVID-19 by comparing risk factors with case data by occupational group. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 64(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.23199.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I want to thank Prof. Dr. Peter Angerer for initiating the "Arbeitsmedizinische KiTa-Studie" and supporting my dissertation within this project. His guidance and supervision from the beginning have been invaluable in shaping the direction and progress of my research. I am also grateful to Prof. Dr. Reinhard Pietrowsky, who served as the second supervisor. I appreciate his prompt and efficient cooperation, which greatly facilitated the dissertation process. Special recognition goes to Dr. Mathias Diebig for his support during my time at the institute. I am thankful for his trust in my abilities and for providing me with the opportunity to prioritize my doctoral research. His valuable advice and support have been of immense help throughout my research journey. I would like to express my gratitude to the staff members at the institute. Their assistance has been crucial in ensuring the smooth operation of the studies and have greatly eased my work. I extend my appreciation to my fellow doctoral candidates for their moral support and scientific exchanges. To my family, I deeply appreciate their unwavering support, even though they may not be familiar with the academic world and research. Lastly, I want to thank Stefan for his encouragement, especially during the final stages of my dissertation. His motivation provided the necessary drive to overcome obstacles and complete this dissertation.